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COMPLIANCE AND EXAMINATIONS :  Docket No.: 210039 (SEC-OSC)

v.

GOLDATA COMPUTER SERVICES, INC.
d/b/a GOLDATA FINANCIAL :

ELLIOT MITCHELL GOLDBERG :

1931 FUNDING, LLC

567 FUNDING, LLC

442 FUNDING, LLC

803 FUNDING, LLC

LEGS 1, LLC

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO APPFAL

You have the right to appeal the attached Final Order issued by the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania, Banking and Securities Commission. (“Commission™)

If you wish to appeal this Final Order, you may file a petition for review with the
Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania that complies with the format and timing requirements of
Chapter 15 of the Pennsylvania Rules of Appellate Procedure. Pa.R.A.P, 1511-1561. Failure to
file a petition for review within 30 days of the mailing date of this Order will result in this Final
Order becoming final and unappealable. The telephone number for the Commonwealth Court is

717-255-1650.

All Commonwealth Court filings must be made in the Court’s filing office in Harrisburg,
Filing must be made in person, by mail as provided by general rules, or electronically via
the PACFile appellate court electronic filing system. The address of the Court is as follows:

Pennsylvania Judicial Center
601 Commonwealth Ave.
Suite 2100

P.O. Box 69185

Harrisburg, PA 17106

A party may submit a request to the Commission for rehearing or reconsideration no later’
than fifteen (15) days after the decision mailing date in accordance with section 35.241 of the
General Rules of Administrative Practice and Procedure. 1 Pa. Code § 35.241. However,
submitting a reconsideration request does not extend the time limit for filing a petition for review
with the Commonwealth Count. '

You may wish to consult an attorney regarding your legal rights.
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FINAL ORDER

AND NOW, the Pennsylvania Banking and Securities Commission ("Commission”)

issues this Final Order in the matter of Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Department of Banki‘ng

and Securities, Bureau of Securities Compliance and Examinations v. Goldata Computer Services,

Iné. d/b/a Goldata Financial, Elliot Mitchell Goldberg, 1931 Funding, LLC, '567 Funding, LLC,

442 Funding, LLC, 803 Funding, LLC and LEGS 1, LLC; Docket No. 210039 (SEC-OSC).

The Commission reviewed documents of record in this matter, including the

proposed report and proposed order of Hearing Officer Monty Batson, which are attached, and

which were served upon the parties by letter dated November 29, 2023, pursuant to 1 Pa. Code

§ 35.207. Respondents filed a brief on exceptions to the proposed report and proposed order. The

Bureau of Securities Compliance and Examinations (“Bureau”) filed a brief in opposition to the

exceptions. The Commission reviewed the exceptions and took them into consideration herein.




In this Final Order, the Commission concludes that the assessment proposed in the hearing

officer’s proposed report and proposed order is supported by the evidence of record and the law.

Accordingly, the Cémmission hereby ORDIRS the hearing officer’s proposed report
and proposed order to be adopted as wrii‘ten, with one point of clarification. On page 6’} of the
- proposed report, the hearing officer includes the following facts in support of finding that the
Bureau met its burden in proving all seventeen counts of violations charged of Section 305(a)(ix)

and 10 Pa. Code§ 305.019(c)(3)(xi):

The evidence presented at the hearing establishes that as Respondent
Goldberg received compensation for his management of Respondent 1931,
Respondent 567, Respondent 442, Respondent 803, and Respondent LEGS,
Respondent Goldata failed to act as a fiduciary and acted primarily for its own
benefit by recommending the purchase of the 1931 Notes, the 567 Notes, the
442 Notes, the 803 Notes and the LEGS Units. (Hearing Officer’s Proposed
Report, p. 67)

The Commission has determined that this finding should have been made on page 66
in support of concluding that the Bureau met its burden in proving all seventeen counts of the
violations of Section 305(a)(ix) and 10 Pa. Code§ 305.019(a). Moreover, the Commission =
finds that the hearing officer’s findings of fact enumerated in paragraphs 131-132, 136-142

and 153 fully support the conclusion of law enumerated in paragraph 24 in proving this

~ violation,




This Final Order is issued pursuant to the final adjudication authority granted to the
Commission under Section 1122-A of the Department of Banking and Securities Code, 71 P.S. §

733-1122-A.

This Final Order shall be effective 30 days after the Commission mails it.

BY ORDER OF THE COMMISSION:

Redacted

James R, Bicr}? -
Chair

Pennsylvania Banking and Securities Commission

So ORDERED this 22nd day of February, 2024
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE.

On behalf of the agency, I certify that I have this day caused to be served a copy of the
foregoing Final Order upon the following persons pursuant to 1 Pa. Code § 33.31:

BY CERTIFIED, EMAIL AND
FIRST-CLASS MAIL:

William W. Uchimoto, Esq.
William W. Uchimoto Law
613 Cascades Court
Berwyn, PA 19312
wwuchimoto@gmail.com
(Attorney for Respondents)

Dated this 29th day of February 2024

'VIA HAND DELIVERY:

David Murren, Esquire
Seamus Dubbs, Esquire

- Assistant Counsels

PA Department of Banking and Securities
17 N. Second Street, Suite 1300
Harrisburg, PA 17101

Redacted

(7

Linnea Freeberg, Docket Clerk

PA Banking and Securities Commission
17 N. Second Street, Suite 1300
Harrisburg, PA 17101

Telephone: (717) 787-5783




FILED

’penngy[van'ia | | 2023 NOV 29 PM 12:30
DEPARTMENT OF BANKING ' ’ PA DEPARTMENT OF
AND SECURITIES ~ BANKING AND SECURITIES

November 29, 2023

David Murren, Esquire William W. Uchimoto, Esquire

Seamus D. Dubbs, Esquire Attorney for Respondents
Assistant Counsels - William W. Uchimoto Law
PA Department of Banking and Securities ‘ 613 Cascades Court

17 North Second Street, Suite 1300 Berwyn, PA 19312

Harrisburg, PA 17101

Re:  Goldata Computer Services, Inc. d/b/a Goldata Financial, Elliot Mn‘chell
Goldberg, 1931 Funding, LLC, 567 Funding, LLC, 442 F undmg, LLC, 803
Funding, LLC, LEGS 1, LLC
Docket No. 210039 (SEC-OSC)

Dear Parties:

Please find enclosed a copy of the proposed report and proposed order prepared by the
presiding officer in the above-captioned matter, Monty Batson. The Banking and Securities
Commission (“Commission”) is serving this document as requited by the General Rules of
'Administrative Practice and Procedure at 1 Pa. Code § 35.207.

Pursuant to 1 Pa. Code § 35.211, you may appeal the proposed report to the Commission
by filing a brief on exceptions within thuty (30) days from the date of this letter in care of Linnea
Freeberg, Docket Clerk, 17 N. 2™ Street, 13™ Floor, Harrisburg, PA 17101, Briefs opposmg
exceptions may be filed within 20 days- after br 1efs on exceptions are due.

Any brief shall comply with the requirements of | Pa. Code § 35.212, except that the
Commission requires the filing of an original and one (1) copy of each brief.

Pursuant to 1 Pa. Code § 35.226(a)(2), the Commission will review the proposed report
and proposed order and issue a Final Order, whether or'not exceptions are filed.

For the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Banking and Securities Commission,

Redacted -
Michael J. Gennett, Esquire

Counsel to the Commission
Enclosure

Pennsylvania Department of Banking and Securities
Market Square Plaza | 17 N Second Street, Suite 1300 | Harrisburg, PA 17101 | 717.787.1471| F 717.724.6915 | dobs.pa.gov
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803 Funding, LLC, :

LEGS 1, LL.C- . .

" Respondents :
PROPOSED REPORT

Monty Batson
Hearing Officer .

COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
GOVERNOR'S OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

OFFICE OF HEARING EXAMINERS -

P.0. Box 2649 A

Harrisburg, PA 17105-2649




HISTORY
_This case comes before the Sectetary of Banking and Secwrities (“Secretary”) on a two
hundred and six counf Order to Show Cause (“OTSC”) filed on June 14, 2021, by the Department of
Banking and Securities, Bureau of Secutities Compliance and Examinations (“Department”) against
Goldata Computer Services, Inc,, dba Goldata Financial (“Respondent Goldata™), Elliot Mitchell
Goldberg (“Respondent Goldberg™), 1931 Funding, LLC (“Respondent 1931); 567 Funding, LLC
(“Respondent 567”), 442 Funding, LLC (“Respondent 442”), 803 Funding, LLC (“Respondent 803"
“and LEGS L, LLC (“Respondent LEGS”) and requests that cettain ‘penalties and relief be granted
pursuant to its authority under the Pennsylvania Securities Act of 1972 (“Act”).
Generally, the OTSC chatged Respondents with (1) eﬁgagiug in dishoﬁest, unethical,
deceptive, fraudulent, and manipulative practices, (2) failing fo disclose material facts, (3) making
unlawful stﬁtement&_ (4) violating custody requirements regarding client funds, (5) violating securities
registration requirements, (6) violating ir‘westmex.it advisor requivrements, (7) violating reporting
requirements and supervising of agents, investment advisor representatives. and el;lployees. All these
charges ate related to Respéndents’ sale of various financial instruments allegedly in violation of
various sections of ‘the Perinsylvania Secutities Act of 1972 (“Act”), Act of Decenﬂaer 5,1972, P.L,
1280 No. 284, as amended, 70 P.3. §§ 1-101-1-705, |
| On September 15, 2021, Respondents, through their Couﬁsel at the time, Mentitt A, Cole,
Esq., and Michael E. Markovitz, Eéq., filed an Answer to the QTSC. On June 6, 2022, the Department
served an Application for- Subpoena to Produce Documentary Evidence on PNC Bank and all
Resi)ondehts. On June 13, 2022, Respondents ﬁled a .Memofandum Contesting Application for
Subpoena or in the Alternative Dismissal of the QTSC and the Department subsequently filed a
Response, By Order dated July 1, 2022, the undersigned heating officer denied Respondents’ Motion

and scheduled a pre-hearing conference, commencing on September 8, 2022, which was held as
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scheduled. On September 1, 2022, Respondents and the Departmenf filed Pre-Hearing Statements and
Respondents filed a Memorandum of Law in Support of Respondents’ Rule 1023.1 Motion to Dismiss
the OTSC and Impose | Sauotion.é on the Department and its attorneys, On September 7, 2022,
Respondent filed Motion to Strike the Department’s Expert Report and Testimony, | |
| By Order dated September 19, 2022, the undeisigned hearing officer denied Respondents’
Motion to Dismiss the OTSC and Motion to Strike the Department’s Expert Report and the
| testimony from the Department’s expett and ordered the parties to confer and prepare a written
joint stipulation of facts, which included facts admitted in Respondents’ Aﬁswer to the OTSC and .
that the patties confer and prepare a written stipulation of the adlliissibi_lity of identiﬂe(% exhibits
that would be offe;'ed into evidence by Septehlber 30, 2022,

By Notice of Hearing, dated September 20, 2022, the hearing, was scheduled for December
12th-13th and if necessary, Dccémber 15% 2002, Tﬁe hearing was'held, by \fide00011fbl'ence, as
scheduled. David Murren, Esq. and Searmus Dubbs, Hsq. répresented the Department at the hearing
and William Uchimoto, Hsq,, I'epresented the Respondents. The Department and Respondents
presented théir cases t111'011g11| documentary evidence and wimessbtestimony.

At the close of the hearing, the parties opted to forgo ciosing arguments and opted instead
to file post-hearing briefs, which were timely received by the docket cletk. The Notes of Testimony
(“N.T.”) were filed on Jaliuél‘y 30, 2023, On Jﬁly 21, 2023, the Department filed a Petition to -
Reopen the Record for the purpose of taking additional evidence regarding whether the
Depattment was required o prove scienter in connection with a violation of Section 401(b) of ﬁie :
Act, In that petition, the Departnient asked the undersigned hearing ofﬁcer to take judicial notice

that on July 19, 2023, the Pennsylvania Supreme Cowt issued its decision in Mimi Investors, LLC

1 The hearing was concluded without the need of convening on December 15, 2022,
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v. Paul K. Tufano, David Crocker, Dennis Cronin, and Neil Matheson, No. 57 MAP 2022. The
decision held that proof of scienter is not required when alleging a violation of Section 401(b) of
the 1972 Act. This holding of law is the first time that the Pénnsylvania Supreme Court has

addressed the issue of proof of scienter under Section 40l(b) of the 1972 Act, This matter is now

ripe for disposition.

Page 4 of 73




FINDINGS OF FACTS

~ Stipulated Facts:?

1. At all timcé relevant and material, Respondent Goldata (CRD |
#134566), was a Pennsylvania corporation with an address at Redacted
Redacted (DoBS Exhibit 108, §13).
2. At all times relgval}t and material, Respondent Goldberg (CRD
#4923485) was an individual with an address at ©  Redacted
At all times material, RespondentGoldberg was the president and
owner of Respondent Goldata. (/d. {14).
3. ‘At all times relevant and material, Res_pondenf 1931 was a
Pennsylvania limited liability company with anaddressat]  Redacted ,
(/d. §15).
4, At all times. material, Respondent Goldberg was the nﬁuagcr of

Respondent 1931. 4.

5. At all times relevant and material, Respondent 567 was a

Pennsylvania limited liability company with an address at - Redacted s
(d. ‘1]1.6).

6. At all times material, Respondent Gpldberg was the manager of‘

Respondent 567, (Id).
7. At all iimes relevant and material, Respondent 442 was a

»

Pennsylvania limited liability company with an address at ] Redacted

(. 17).

2 The parties stipulated (o several findings of facts and to the authenticity and admissibﬂity of several exhibits. (See
DoBS Exhibit 108).
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8. At all times material, Respondent Goldberg was the manager of

Respondent 442, (Id.).
9. At all times relevant and material, Reéspondent 803 v‘vaS a
Pennsylvania limited liability company with an address at Reciacted |
(Jd. 18).

10, Atall times material, Respondent Goldberg was the manager of
Respondent 803, (/d).

il Ati all times relevant and matetial, Respondent LEGS was a Texas
limited liability comp-any withanaddressat  Redacted |

(d. §19).

12, At all times material, Respondent Goldata was the manager of
Respondent LEGS, (1d)). |

13.  Trom in or about June 2005 to June 30, 2022, Respondent Goldata
has been registered pursuant to .Se(;ti011 301 lof the 1972 Act, 70 P.S. § 1-301, as an
investment advisor. (Id. 20).

14,  From inor about June 2005 to June 30, 2022, Respondent Goldberg
ha‘s been registeréd pursuant to Section 301 of the 1972 Act, 70 P.S. § 1-301, as an
investment advisor representative of Respondent Goldata. (I4. j21). |

15, At all times relevant and material, 1 Global Capital, LLC, aka st
- Global Capi4tal, LLC, ala 1st Global Capital Financial Services (“Global”) was a Florida

.( limited liability company, with an address at 1250 Ee}st Hallandale Beach Blvd., Sﬁite 409,

Hallandale Beach, FL 33009. (/d. §22).
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16. At all times relevant and material, Global was engaged in the -
business of providing funding known as a Merchant Cash Advance Transaction (“MCAT”)

as an alternate form of financing to traditional bénking and banking institutions, (Id. §23).

17. At all times material, Global offered for sale Memoranda of .

Indebtedness (“Global Notes™) to individuals, (/d. §24).

18,  From in or about March 2017 through November 2017, Respondent
Goldberg patticipated in effecting the offer and sale of at least 14 Global Notes to at least
14 Pennsﬂvania ‘residenvts (“PA Residents™) for an aggregate amount of at least $646,000, |
(d. §25).

19, For Respondent Goldberg’s participation in the sale of Global
Notes, Respondent Goldberg réccived $9,293 in compensation from Ametican Alternative
Investments, LLC (“*AAT”), which lacted aé the nmfketin'g agent for Global, (Id. §26).

20.  Global is the “issuet” of the Global Notes within the meaning of
Section 102(1) of the Pennsylvania Secut‘iﬁes Act of '1 972 (“Act™), 70 P.S, § 1-102(1). (Zd.
2. o |

21, On July 27, 2018, Global filed a Chapter 11 bankruptoy petition in
the United States Bankruptey Court for the Southém District of Florida, (Id. §28).

22. To dafe, Global has been unable to fulfill its financial obligations to
some or all the PA Residents who purchaéed Global Notes, and Global has consequently
defaulted ;)11 payments to some or all of the PA. Residents. (1d. 429).

23, To date, the bankruptoy trustee has refurned to the PA Residents at

least 44% of the principal they invested into Global, (Id. §30).
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24, Robert Harmelin (“Haumelin”) was an accfedited investor when he

purqhased a Global Note. (Zd, 131).
| 25.  Harmelin has 1'eceived~all payments due on his Global Note from

Global, (/d. §32).

26,  From in or about March 2018 until June 14, 2021, Respondent 1931
offered for sale 1931 notes (“1931 Notes”) to individuals (“1931 Purchasers”). (Id. §33).

27.  ThePrivate Placement Memorandum (“PPM”) for Res imndefntl 1931
states that “proceeds from the sale of the [1931] Notes” were “used for provi‘diné funds to
MCA. [*"Merchant Cash Advance’] rﬁlndi-ng ﬁﬁns.” (Id. 134).

28. Frbm in or about March 2018 until June 14, 2021, Respondeﬁt 1931
offered and sold 1931 Noteg memotialized in two-hundred-forty-seven (247)’1)1’1\48 to 67
individuals within t]ie United States for an aggregate amount of $16,097,218, The PPMs
- state the price per note i5 $10,000. Asof June 14,2021, $6,796,398 in principal ;md interest
® &1) has been returned to those individuals, (Id. §35). | |

29, Fro;'n in or about March 2018 until June 14, 2021, Respondent 1931
offered and sold at least seven-hundred sixteen (716) 1931 Notes to at léaét 28 PA
Residents for an aggregate amount of at least $7,166,000. (Id, {3 6).

- 30.  Fromon or about March 2018 wntil June 14, 2021, Respondent 1931

offered and sold approximately three-hundred sixty-nine (369) 1931 Notes to at least 7
individuals that were clients of Responcfent Goldata’s stock portfolio adviso?y setvices at
‘the time of their purchase (“Respondent Goldata Clients™), for an aggregate amount of

$3,699,000. (Id. §37).
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31.  Atleast one (1) 1931 Purchaser was agéd 60 61' mote at the time the
1931 Purchaser pufchascd the 1931 Notes. (/d. {38).
32.  The term of the 1931 Notes was from one month to 5 years. (/d.
139). - |
33.  The rate of return for the 1931 Notes ranged from 6% to 20%. (Id.
140). | |
| 34, The 1931 Notes described above are “securities” within the meaning
of Section 102(t) of the 1972 Act, 70 P.S. §1-102(t). (/4. J41).
_ 35, Respondent 1931 is the “issuer” of th_e’ 1931 Notes within the
Qleaning of Section 102(I) of the 1972 Act, 70P.S. § 1-1 02(15. (Id. J42). -
36,  On or about April 12, 2018, Respondent 1931 filed a Notice of
Exempt Offering of Secuuties pursuant to Rule 506(c) of Regulation D, (Id 1{43)
37.  The 1931 Notes were not xeglsteled under Section 201 of the 1972
Act, TOP.S. § 1-201, (il J44).
38,  Harmelin was an accredited investor when he purchased the 1931
Notes, (Id. J45).
| 39. .ﬁal'ljlelixl has received all paymcnts of principal and interest due on
his 1931 Notes. (Id. J46). |
40.  From in or about July 2019 until July 2020, Respondent 567 offered
for sale notes (“567 Notes™) to individuals (“567 Purchasers™). (Zd. ﬁi47)
41,  The PPM for Respondent 567 states that Respondent 567 “was |
formed for the purpose of providing fands to‘MCA funding ﬂ_rms. . .that provide‘_Merchant

Cash Advances (MCA) to Metchants that they identify, underwrite and setvice.” (. §48).
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42.  Promin or about July 2019 until July 2620, Reépondent 567 offered
and sold 567 Notes memorijalized in thirty-one (31) PPMs to sixteen (16) 567 Purchasers
within the Un'itedAStates for an aggregate amount of $1,329,60'0. The PPMs state the price
per 116te is $10,600. As of June 14, 2021, $191,760 in P&I has bc¢n returned to‘those
_ individuals. (Zd. J49). | |

. 43.  TFrominor ébouf September 2019 until July 2020, Respondent 567
offered and sold at least fifty (50) 567 Notes to at least 7 PA Residents for an aggregate
‘amount of at least $500,000, (/d. §50). ’

| 44,  From in ot about September 2019 until July 2020, Respondent 567
offered énd sold at leéxsi six (6) 567 Notes to at least two individuals that were Respondent
Goldata Cliénts at the time of their purchase, for an aggregate amount of at ieast $64,000.
(d. 51,

45.  Atleast one (1) 567 Purchaser was aged 60 ot more at the time the
567 Purchaser purchased the 567 Notes. (Id. §52). o

- 46.  The term of the 567 Notes was from one month to 5 yeats, (/. §53).

47. | The v1'ate of return for the 567 Notes ranged from 6% to 16%.' (.
154). |
| 48. The»567‘ Notes are “securities” as that term is defined lbin Section
102(t) of the 1972 Act, 70 P.S. § 1-102(t). (Id. §55). |

49. Respondent 567 is the “issuer” of the 567 Notes within the meaning
of Section 102(1) of'the 1972 Act, 70 P.S. § 1-102(1). (Jd. 1[56).!

- 50, Onor aboyt August 21, 2019, Respondent 567 filed a Notice of

Exempt Offering of Securities pursuant to Rule 506(b) of Regulation D. (Zd. §57).
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51, The 567 Notes wete not 1'egi;<stered under Section 201 of the 1972
Act, T0P.5. § 1-201. (. 159). -

52.  Frominor exb011£ Tune 2018 vatil July 2019, Respondent 442 }offered

for sale notes (“442 Notes™) to individuais (“442 Pm'chasérs”). (Id. 459).

| 53, The PPM for Respondent 442 states that Respondent 442 “was
formed for the putpose of providing fundé to MCA funding firms, ..that provide Mexrchant
Cash Advances (MCA) to Mclchants that they identify, underwrite and service.” (1d. 60).

| 54. From in or about June 2018 until June 2019, Respondent 442 offered
and sold 442 Notes memorialized in thirty-six (36) PPMs to twenty-seven (27) 442
Purchasers within the United States for an agglegatc amount of $1,152,500, The PPMs
state the price per note is $10,000, As of June 14, 2021, all P&I has been zetumed to those
indtviduals. (7. 61). | |

§5.  Fromin or about July 2018 until June 2019 » Respondent 442 offered
and sold at least tllirty;sevell (37) 442 Notes to at least 8 PA Residents for al'x 'aggregate
~ amount of at least $370,000. (Zd. §62).

56, Fromin or about July 2018 until June 2019, Respondent 442 offered
and sold at least seven (7) 442 Notes to at least 5 individuals that were Respondent Goldata
Clients at the time of their purchase, for an aggregafe amount of $77,500. (Jd. 163).

57.  Atleastone (1) 442 Puréhases was aged 60 or more at the time the
442 Purchaser purchased the 442 Notes, (Zd, §64).

58, The term of the 442 Notes was from 6 months to 2 years; ({d. §65).

59, The rate of return for ém 442 Notes ranged from 6% to 16%. (d.
166). |
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60.  The 442 Notes described al)bve are “securities” within the meaning
of Section 102(f) of the 1972 Act, 70 P.S, § 1-102(t). (Id. §67).

61, Respondent 442 is the “issuer” of the 442 Notes within the meaning
- of Section 102(1) of the 1972 Act, 70 PS § 1-102(1). (1d. 968).
| - 62, Onorabout June 3, 2019, Respondent 442 filed a Notice of Exempt

Offering of Securities pursuant to Rule 506(b) of Regulation D. (/d. §69).

63.  The 442 Notes were not registered under Section 201 of the 1972
Aof, 70 P.S, § 1-201. (Id. §70). )

‘64, From in or about July 2020 until June 14, 2021, Respondent 803
offered for sale 803 notes (“803 Nétes”) to individualé (“803 Purchasers”). d. 71},

. 65, | The PPM for Respondent 803 states that Respondent 803 “was
formed foi' the purpose of providing funds to MCA ﬁmdiﬁg firms...that provide Merchant
- Cash Advances (MCA) to Merchants that they identify, underwrite and service.” (Id. 172).

| 66. 'Frqm in or about July 2020 until June 14, 2021, Respondent 803
offered and sold 803 Notes memorialized in forty-one (41) PPMs to twenty-five (25) 803
Purchasers within the United States for an aggregate amount of $10§6,875. The PPMs
state the price pex note is $10,000. (Jd. §[73).

'67.  From in or about July 2020 untﬁ June 14, 2021, Respondent 803
offered ané sold at least thrg:e (3) 803 Notes to at least 'ZFPA Residents, who were also
Respondenf Goldata Clients at the time of their purchase, for an aggregate amount of at
least $30,000. (Jd. 74).

68, At léast one (1) 803 Purchaser was aged 60 ox more at the time the

803 Purchaser purchased the 803 Notes. (/d. §75).
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69,  The term of the 803 Notes was from one month to 5 years. (Id. 76).
70.  The rate of return for the 803 Notes ranged from 6% to 20%. (Id,
7. | | |

71, The 803 Notes describf;d above are “securities” within the meaning
of Sectio‘n 102(t) of the ll 972 Act, 70 P.S. § 1-102(). (Id. §78).

72. Respoﬁdent 803 is the “issuer™ of the 803 Notes vﬁthin the meaning
of Section 102(1) of the 1972 Act, 70 P.S, § 1-102(D). (/4. §79).

73, On or about August 25, 2020, Respondent 803 filed a Notice of
Exempt Offering Qf Securities pursuant to Rule 506(b) of Regulation D, (/d. ﬂ[80).

74.  The 803 Notes were not i'egistered under Section 201 of the 1972
Act, 70 P.S, § 1-201, (/d. 181). | |

75.  From in or about November 2016 until December 2016, Responclént
LEGS offered for sale limited liability company units in Respondent LEGS (“LEGS
Units™) to individuals (“LEGS Purchaser”), (Id 182).

76.  The PPM for Respondent LEGS states that ploceeds from the sale
of the LEGS Unifs would be used to purchase intetests in investment funds that would
acquire life settlements. (/d. 83). |

77.  Fromin or about November 2016 until December 2016, Respondent
LEGS offeted and sold the LEGS Units to at least 2 PA Residents for an aggreéate amount
* of $200,000, (Jd. §84). |

78, Tn or about December 2016, Respondent LEGS offered and sold the
LEGS Units fo at }easf 1 individual that was a Respondent Goldata Client at time of their

purchase, for an aggregate amount of $50,000. (Jd. 85).
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79, At bleast one (1) LEGS Purchaser was aged 60 or more at the time
the LEGS Purchaser purchased the LEGS Units. (/d. {86).
80. The LEGS Unifs described above are “securities” within the
. meaning of Section 102(t) of the 1972 Act, 70 P.8. § 1-102(t). (X4, 11'87).
| 81, Reépondent LEGS is the “issuer” of the LEGS Units within the
meaning of Section 102(1) of the 1972 Act, 70 P.S. § 1-102(1). (d. §88).
82.  On or about Noveniber 22, 2016, Respondent LEGS filed a Notice
of Exempt Offering of Securities pursuant to Rule 506(b) of Regulation D. (Id. 89). |
83.  Respondent Goldata’s fiscal yeaf ends on June 30, (Zd. §90). - |
84.  Respondent 1931, Respdndent 567, Respoﬁdent 442, Respondent
803, and Respondent LEGS‘ have separate operating agreemeﬁts and bank accounts. .(Id.’
1),
85.  Respondent Goldberg is the sole member of Respondent 1931,
Respondent 567, Respondent 442, Respondent 803, and Respondent LEGS. (Id. 492).
86.  No note holders were a member of Respondent 1931, Respondent |
567, Respdndent 442, Respondent 803, and Respondent LEGS. (I, 193).
| 87.  Each note holder receii/ed a private placement memorandum
(“PPM”) and signed a subscription agreement with the LLC that issued the note fo the note
holder. (1d. '[[94).‘
88, | ‘Each LLC PPM contained a Di_solaimér disclosing: “The Subscriber
understands that Elfiot Goldberg is a Registered Investment Advisor and may have advised
them about investment opportunities in the past, but that this offering is made by an entity

that Elliot Goldberg controls, Because of this, the Subscriber should not rely on the advice
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of Elliot Goldbesg or any of his affiliate organizations to determine the suitability of the
lnvestment for them. Subscriber should seek out independent counsel for determiﬁing
whether or not to subsctibe to the offering,” (Icf. 195).

89.  Bach LLC PPM contained a further disclosure statement; “This
booklet contains documents that must b;e read, executed and returned if you Wish to invest
in [name of LL.C], a Pennsylvania limited liability company (the “Company”). You should
consult with an attorney, accountant, investment advisor or other advisor regarding an
investment in thé Company and its suitability for you.” (Zd. §96). |

90, Eaéh LLC PPM contained a further disclosure statement: ‘fOfféring
Memorandum Advice. You have either consulted your own iﬁvéstment adviser, attorney
or accountant about the investment and proposed purchase of a Note and its suitability to
you, ot chosen not to do so, despite the recommendation of that course of action by the
Manager, Any special acknowledgement set forth below with respect to any statement
contained in the Offering Memorandum shall not beb deemed to limit the generality of this
' >1'ep1'esentation and warranty.” (Id. 197).

91. - Each LLCv subscriptién agreement contained a provision stating:
“Suitability. You 11a§e evaluated the risks involved in investing in the Promissory Noteé
and have determined that the Prmni;so‘ry_ Notes ate a suitable investment for you.
Specifically, the aggregate amount of the invesiments you have in, and your commitments
to all similar invéstments that are iliiquid is reasonable in 1‘ela’tion to your net worth, both

before and after the subseription for and purchase of the Promissory Notes pursuant to this

Agreement,” (Id. 198).
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ADDITIONAL FINDINGS OF FACTS

§2. The Department is the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania's
administrative agency authorized and empowered to administer and enforce ‘the‘
Pennsylvania Securities Act of 1972 (“Act”);
| 93.  The Bureau of Secux‘iﬁcs Compliénce and Examinations ("Bureau")
is primarily responsible for administering and enforcing the Act for the Department.

94,  The Bureau operates from the Department’.s main office located at
17 North Second Street, Suite 1300, I-Iarz‘isb111'g, Pennsylvania 17 101, |

- 95, . As the president of Respondent Goldata, Respondent Goldberg

conirolled Respondenf Goldata. (N.T. Day 1, P.109-110), |

96.  As the president of Respondent Goldata, Respondent Goldberg
acted as an afﬁliate of Respondent Goldata M_thixilthe meaning of Section 102(b) of _thev
Act. (N.T. Day 1, I’.10§~110)

97.  Global Notés are securities within the meaning of Section 162(’() of
the Act. |

- 98, Jeffrey Soderstedt, the Ditector of Corporation Finance for the

Department, certified that the Departmént does not have any records (that the department
maintains for securities, registrations, and exemptions) in posscssibnv regarding
registrations ot exemptions fof Global Notes. (DoBS Exhibit 104; N.T. 64-65)

‘99. Nathan Houtz is a securities compliance examiner with thé
Depa?tnient. (N.T.39) |

100, M, H,outz has held that position for about four and a half yeats.

(N.T. 39)
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101, M. Houtz has conducted approximately twenty-five investigations
involving the sale of securities by unregistered persons or entities and fraud cases and about
ten to twelve of those cases involved merchant cash advances. (N.T. 40-41)

102, Mr. Houtz also conductéd about fiye to seven investigations
iﬁ\folvillg merchant case advances that involved 1 Global Capital and Global Notes, (N.T.
41) |

103, Mr. Houtz was assigzled to investigate ‘this matter in the summer of
2022, (N.T. 41)

104. In performing his investigation, he obtained numerous documents
supplied by Respovndents in response to a Request for Information, (N.T. 42-43)

| 105.  More specifically, aé part of the Department’s RFI dated November
22, 2019, Respondent 1931 subnﬁtted two unaudited balance sheets dated December 31,
2019, and November 30, 2019, (N.T, 51-51)

106. A search by M. Houfz for a CRD in the FINRA database did not
identify that Respondent Goldberg was ever 1'egistered as an agent of Global.. (N .T.‘47)

107,  As manager of Respondent 193 1; Rgspondent Goldberg controlled
Respondent 1931 Funding, (N.T, 109-110) |

108. As manager of Respondent 567, Respondent Goldbergv confrollied |
Respondent 567 Funding. (N.T. 109-110) |

109.  As manager of Respondent 442, Respondent Goldberg controlled |
Respondent 442 Funding, (N.T. 109-110) - |

| 110, As manager of Respondent 803 Respondent Goldberg controlled

Respondent 803 Funding. (N.T. 109-1 10)
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111, As managei' of Respondent LEGS, Respondent Goldb'erg_ controlled
Respondent LEGS Funding, (N.T. 109-110)

112, As patt of the Department’s RFI dated November 22, 2019,
Respondeﬁt 1931 submﬂed two unaudited ﬁaiance sheets daﬁed Deceﬁﬁber 31, 2019, and
- November 30, 2019, (N.T. 51-525

. 113, Respondent Goldata provided invgstment adyisory services,
iiiéluding offering Global Notes for a fee to Qolclata Clients. (N.T. 2848 5)
114, Respdndexﬁ Goldata émployed TD Ameritrade as a third-party
custodian. (N.T. 284-85) | | |
115. The tetm of the Global Nofes was nine (9) months, and the
indebtedness would auto'matically rollover into a new il;debfcdtleés after nine months,
 unless the Global Investor provided written notice of termination at least 30 days Beforé
the maturity date of the Global Note. (DoBS-3, Bates 15-23, 45-53, 62-71, 78-87, 117-25,
1‘52-61, 178-86, 196-205, 217-25, 237-45, 261-69, 303-04, 323-31, 344-52) |

116, | Global assigned interest rates at its discretion based 611 its regularly
collected amounts received from the merchant cash advance transactions. (DoBS-3 ,' Bates |
17)

117, Respondeﬁt Goldberg met with Global's chief ﬁnéncial officer, head
of marketing, head of underwriting, and head of collections prior to offering the Global _
Notes to Global Investors. (N.T. 276, 278)

| 118.- Respondent Goidberg also spoke with Global's corporate counsel

regarding the Global Notes, (N.T. 279-81)
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119.  Respondent Gc‘)‘ldberg contacted potlential investors and provkled-
those potentiél investors with iﬁformation regarding opportﬁnities to invest in the Global
Notes. (N.T. 111, 276) | |

120,  Respondent Goldberg v?onid also respond to questions from
potential investors about the investment opportunity in the Global Notes. (N.T. 111-12,
354) - |

121, Respondent Goldberg provided both marketing brochures and
: offering matetials regarding the Global Notes to Global Investors. (DoBS»ll; N.T. 111, ..
275-76) | |
122.  The Global marketing brochures and offering materials did not
| disclose the financial condition of Global, (DoBS-11)
123.  The Global nmrl<etﬁ1g brochures and offering materia{s did not fully
disclose the financial risk of investing in the Global Notes, (DoBS-11)
| 124, The Global marketing brochures and offering materials did not
disclose the identity of élpbal’ s corporate officers or leadership. (DoBS-11)

125; Respondent Goldberg would avssist the Glbbai Investors in filling out
the pziperwork to purchase Global Notes, (N, T, 27 6,v 354)

126, Respondent Goldberg received subscription agresments and other
- paperwork from Global Investors, and he would forward that documentation to American
Alternative Investments, LLC ("AAI") to coinplefe the purchase of the Global Notes. (N.T.

112, 354)
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127. Respondent Goldberg completed and signed Global Note
subscription forms as the "Marketing Partner/Fund Manager." (§)0BS-3, Bates 8, 37, 56,
73,104, 127, 169, 190, 207, 227, 249, 280, 312, 333; N.T. 46). -

128. Responciént ‘Goldberg continued to correspond with the Global
Investors about their invéstment after they purchésed the Global Notes, (N.T, 113-114)

129, . Respondent Goldberg was not registered pursvant to Section 301 of
the 1972 Act as an agent of either Global or AAI; (N.T. 47) |

130, Respondent 1931, Respondent 567, Respondent 442, Respondent
803 and Respondént LEGS (“Goldbetg LLCs”) were formed for the putpose of aggregating
funds from multiple investors in order to provide investment funds to MCA Funding Firms
that, in tutn, provided MCAS to merchants ("Merohants"). (DoBS-27; DOBS~32; boBS~
35; DoBS-54; DoBS-90; DoBS-91; DoBS-92; DoBS-93) | |

| 131. Respondegt Goldberg testiﬁedi,that he began soliciting Goldberg

LLC Investors for the Goldberg LLCs in otder to be able to increase the Goldberg LLCs
ability to provide investment funds to the MCA Funding Fitms. (N.T . 357)

132, Respondent Goldberg testified that, if the investments in the MCA.
Funding Firms were successful, the Goldberg LLCs wou'id be able to repay their investors;
but if the investments wete uﬁsuccessﬁnl, the investors would shate in the loss, (N.T. 357~
358) |

135. | The Goldberg LLCs entered into master pa1'£icipati011 agreements
("MPAs") with the MCA Funding Fiﬁns to fund the MCAs provided by the MCA Funding

Firms to Merchants. (DoBS-103)
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| 134, The MPAs eﬁti’de the Goidbérg LLCs to receive a percenta,ée ofthe
MCA Funding Firms' daily repayments on the MCAs, (DoBS-103)

135, The Goldberg LLC PPMs did not disclose thé identities and |
operatihg histories of the MCA Funding Firms td potentiaﬂ Goldberg LLC Investors,
(DoBS-90, Bates 2190-95; DoBS-91, Bates 7811-17;, DoBS-92, Bates 1‘0442-48; DoBs-
93, Bates 11482-88; N.T. 65-73, 120, 296~ 9’7)‘

136.‘ bAs the sole member émd manager of the Goldberg LLCs, -
Respondent Goldberg was entitled to and teceived compensation for participating ‘in the
funding of MCAs by the MCA Funding Firms. (DoBS-93, Bates 11494; DoB $-91, Bates
7823; DoBS-90, Bates 2198; DoBS-92; Bates 10454; DoBS-43, Bates 1297; N.T. 123,
126-27, 139-41, 144-48, 355.56)

‘ 137. Respondent Goldberg's mailagement fee as the sole member of the
Goldberg LLCs was, "[tlen percent (10%) ofall funds received from thev MCA Firms whom
the Company advances investme;it capital." (DoBS-93, Bates 11494; DoBS-91, Batés
7823; DoBS-90, Bates 2198; DoBS-92, Bates 10454; DoBS-43, Bates 1297; N.T. 123,
126-27, 139-41, 144-48, 355-56)

138, Requndent Goldberg provided spreadsheets to the Bureau which
detailed the compensation to which Respondent Goldberg was entitled from the Goldberg
LLCs as a resulf of tﬁe offer and sale of Goldberg LLC Notes to Goldata Clients. (DoBS-
95; N.T. 52-56, 129-32, 134, 139-41; DoBS-20; N.T. 76-78; DoBS-57; DoBS-59)

139, Asthe malwging member of 1931 Funding, Respondent Goldberg
was entitled to at least $1,377,822 in compensation ﬂn‘ouéh management fees. (Ans. to

0SCY43)
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140. As the managing member of 567'1?1111di11g, Respondent Goldberg -
- was entitled to at least $19,158 in compensation through management fees. (Ans. to OSC
157 |

141,  As the managing member of 442 Punding, Respondent Goldberg
was entitled to at least $5 02,884 in compensétion through management fees. (Ans. to 6SC
172)

142,  As the managing member of 803 Funding, Respondent Goldberg
was entitled to at least $241,983 in compensation. through management fees. (Ans, to OSC
185) |

143, Respondent Goldberg signed each 1931 Note on behalf of 1931
Funding. (DoBS-93) | |

144,  Respondent Goldberg signed each 442 Note on 'behalf of 442
Funding, (DoBS-90) | o |

145, Réspdndent Goldberg signed each 803 Note on behalf of 803

Funding. (DoBS-92) ~l
| 146. Respondent Goldberg offered the .Goldberg LLC Notes for sale to
Goldata Clients, (N.T. 114, 362) '

147.  Atleast one Goldata Client direct:ljr transferred ﬁinds from a Goldata
investment advisory account to purchase at leasf one 1931 ﬁote. (DoBS-18; DoBS-20;
© DoBS-93, Bates 21924-62; DoBS-99, Bates 23324-26)

148, Resp.ondent Goldberg maintaiﬁed a publicly accessible LinkedIn
webpage that listed Goldberg as the Manager of 1931 Funding, 442lFunding, and 567

Funding, (DoBS-81, N.T. 59)
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149. Respondent Goldberg's LinkedIn webpage was active during the
time of the offer and sale of the Goldberg LLC Notes. (N.T. 117)
150. Respondent Goldberg's LinkedIn webpage also stated that 1931
Funding, 442 Funding, 567 Fuﬁding, and 863 Funding "offer attractive returns of 6% to
- 20% ammally to investors by participating in cash advances to small businesseé." (Ans. to
0SC §21) | |
151, Respondent Goldberg created and maintained a publicly accessible
YouTube channel that included videos explaining -and adveriising investments in the
Goldberg LLCs. (DoBS-100; N.T, 61, 117-18)
152, The You Tube videos that Respondent Goid‘berg created detailed the
'various types of alternative investments offered by Respondént Goldberg through the
Goldberg LLCs, including MCA funding and the purchase of life seftlements. (DoBS-101,
N.T. 62-63)
153, In offering the Goldberg LLC Notes for sale, Respondent Goldberg
engaged in direct marketing to potential investors ;m(; Goldata Clients, (N.T. 114)
' }54. Respondent Goldberg considered the Linkedln and vYouTube
- webpages to be a part of his matketing methods. (N .T.‘ 118)
155, Quest Education referred in’QeStors to Respondent Goldberg fo;‘ the
* putchase of ti;e Goldléerg LLC Notes. (N.T. 118-19)
156,  When evaluating énd verifying the accredited investor status of
purchasers -of. the Golldberg LLC Notes, Respondent Goldberg relied upon either

affirmations from investors as to their accredited investor status or investor questionnaires
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that were included in the Goldberg LLC PPMs. (N.T. 56-58; DoBS-14; DOBS~'§ 5; DoBS-
26) | |

157,  With respect to the 1931 Notes, Respondent Goldberg testified that
“he would verify the 1931 Inveétor's accredited investor status either through an inyestor's
net worth or income, (N.T, 116-17, 332-33) |

158. Respondent Goldberg failed o provide any documentation that hé
veriﬁed the 1931 hwestor's éccredite’d investor status through an investor's net worth or
‘income. (N.T. 116-17)

159.  Respondent _Goldbefg included various balance sheets, financial
statexﬁents, énd financial metrics for the Goldberg LLCs in the Goldberg LLC PPMs, (N.T.

- 120)

160.  Respondent Goldberg t‘es.tiﬁed that he did not inform investors who
purchased the Goldberg LLC Notes that the financial statements he had captioned as
balance sheets in the Goldberg LLC PPMs were not actual balance sheets, (N T, 120-22) |

161, After discovering the balance sheets were improperly labeled as a
balance sheet, Respondent nevey informed Iﬁveétors of the exror, (N.T, 122)

162, In connection with the offer and saie of the GoldBerg LLC Notes,
TRespondent Goldberg disclosed balance sheefs and other financial statements to inve;stors,
which financiél documents purpoxted to accurately describe the ﬂnax;cial condition of the
Goldberg LLCs, (DoBS-33; DoBS-35, Bates 1190; DoBS-36; DoBS-39, Bates 1230-33; -
DoBS-40; DoBS-93, Bates 11529, 11657, 11785, 11913, 12041, 12169, 12297, 12425,

12799, 13417, 13909, 14037, 14891, 15139, 15765, 16145, 16399, 16527, 17917, 18045,
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18173, 18301, 18429, 18683, 19063, 19191, 19510, 19638, 20006, 20862, 20990, 21118,

21246, 21374, 21502, 21756, 21884, 22171, 22307, 22435, 22801, 22929)
163, Some of the balance sheets disclosed fo 1931 Purchasérs in

connection with the offer»and sale of the 1931 Notes showed that 1931 Funding was

insolvent as of December 31,2018, (DoBS-93, Bates 12673, 13165, 13291, 13665, 14639, -

14765, 15267, 15393, 15519, 15893, 16019, 16273, 16665, 16782, 16908, 17034, 17160,

1'7286, 17412, 17538, 17664, 17790, 18557, 188! 1, 18937, 20610, 20736, 21.630;})013'8.-
106, Bates 24452; DoBS-40) |

164. Respondent Goldberg would provici»e monthly updates of financial
| statements for the Goldberg LLCs to the Goldberg LLC Investors. (N.T. 342-43, 345-46,
360-62; Bxhibits R-1, R-2, R:3)

165, 1931 Funding | maintained general ledgers to track its financial
status, and i.hese general ledgers did not always match the balance sheets and financial
statements that were disclosed to Goldberg LLC Investors in connection with the offer and
sale 6f the Goldberg LLC Notes. (DOBS~50; DoBS-93, Bates 11529, 11657, 11785, 11913,
12041, 12169, 12297, 12425, 12799, 13417, 13909, 14037, 14891, 15139, 15765, 16145,
16399, 16527, 17917, 18045, 18173, 1.8301, 18429, 18683, 19063, 19191, 19510; 19638,
20006, 20862, 20990, 21118, 21246, 21374, 21502, 21756, 21884, 22171, 22307, 22435,
2801, 22020 NT, 186-88) |

166, Chuis thher, Certified Publiq Accountant a Securities Accountant
3 employed by the Department ("Mr. Yother") confirmed that the Goldberg LLC general
1edgers' did not always match the balancé sheets and financial s(‘étements that were provided

to the Goldberg LLC Investors, (N.T. 113, 186-88)
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167. Respondent Goldberg testified that he did not always withdraw the
full compensation that he was entitled from each Goldberg LLC, per t‘ile terms of the
Goldberg's LLC Notes' PPM. (N.T. 127)

168. Respondent Goldberg testified tliat, if he withdrew the total
qompensatiou to which he was entitled from the Goldberg LLCs, then the Goldberg LLCs
would have operzited at a loss. (N'T‘. 125-27, 355-5 6)

169,  Respondent Goldbérg was under no legal obligation to inject
- additional capital into the Goldberg LLCs to sustain them financially. (N.T 358-59) '

170. Harméﬁn was a Goldata Client with respect to Goldata's ixiveétmeﬂt
ad?isory serviceé. (N.T. 94) |

171.  When Harmelin was an active Goldata Client, Res§011de11t Goldberg
presented Harmelin with an opportun‘ity to invest in 1931 Funding, (N.T, 95)

172, Harmelin was a Goldata Client when he invested in a 1931 Note.
(N.T. 96) _
| | 173,  Following the investment in a 1931 Note, Respondent Goldberg
would discuss with Hannelin both the 1931 investment and the investiments made as a
Goldata Client at the same meeting, (N.T. 96-97)

174.  Respondent Goldata did not ﬁl¢ an audited balance sheet with the
Depattment as of the eﬁd of its fiscal year for fiscal years 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, and
2020. (N.T. 136; Ans. to OSC Y 107)

175.  Respondent Goldata did not promptly notify the Depattment on
Form ADV that Goldata had custody or possession of funds or securities in which any'

Goldata Client had a beneficial interest. (N.T. 135; Ans. to OSC ¥ 109)
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176.  Respondent Goldata failed to have its client funds or secuirities of
which Respondent Goldata had custody verified by a certified public accountant, (N.T,
135-36; Ans. to OSC  111)

177. Respondent Goldata's nef worth for the period from July 1, 2017 to
June 30, 2018 was‘below $35,000. (N.T. 79; Ans. to OSC 1113)

178.  Goldata did not have an independent Certified Public Accountant
conduct audits of the funds in the various entities, (N.T. 136).

179.  Goldata did not maintain written procedures related to the offer and
salé of .alternative ot non-conventional securitieé, including pééled investment vehicles, to
Goldata Clienfs, (DoBS-5, Bates 357; DOBS;é, Bates 360; N.T. 80-82, 136)

180. Mr, Yother is a Securities Accountant 3 employed by the
- Department (N.T. 113)

181, Mz, Yother has had this position since 2015, (N.T, 163)

182. Mr. Yother duties include reviewing amual»balance sheets from
vatious invesiment advisory firms and performing solvency reviews F(N T.163.).

183. M. Yother was qualified as an expert in accounting at the Hearing.
(N.T, 166-67) |

184, M. Yother 9011ductec{ sqlve11cy evaluations of 442 Funding, 567
Funding, and 1931 Funding and‘ authored an expert report ("Expert Report") on August 18,
2022. (N.T. 167-68; DoBS-~106, Bates 24445-63)

185, M. Yother reviewed the general l(-;dgers, ﬁllalicial statements, and

bank statements of the Goldberg LLCs, (N.T. 177-78; DoBS-48; DoBS-49; DoBS-50)
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186. Mz, Yother also reviewed balance sheets that appeared in the
Goldberg LLCs' PPMs and brochutes, (N.T. 177-78; DoBS-93, Bates 11529; DoBS-39,
' Bates 1230-33)

187. le conducting net worth caloulétions of 1931 Funding, 442 Funding,
and 567 Funding, Mr. Yéther applied tﬁe definition of "net worth" as foulnd in 10 Pa, Code
§ 102,02, (N.T. 179; DoBS-106, Bates 24450-51)

188. In conduqtﬂg the solVe_ncy evaiuatbns, Mr., Yother applied the
definition of "insolvent" ot "insblvencﬁf" as found in 10 Pa, Code § 102.021: (N.T. 173;
DoBS-106, Bates 24447-48) |

189, Part one of the definition of "insolvent” or "insolvency" is: "The
inability to pay debts as they fall due in the petson's uéual course of business," Part two of
the definition of "iﬁsolveht" or "ingolvency" is: "Liabilities in excess of the fait value of
the person's assets." 10 Pa. Codé § 102.021. (DoBS~105, Bates 24457)

190.  Mr. Yother tesﬁﬁed regarding his knowledge of and experience with

accounting principlés generally aécepted in the United States of Ametica. ("US GAAP").
T 168-71) |

191. Mr. Yother testified regarding the differenceé betwé,en the accrual
basis of accountiug' and the cash baéis of accounting, (N.T. 171-73)

192, Mr, Yother also reviewed and conéidered the Responde‘nts't
"Signiﬁcant Accou;iting Policies Used by LLCs." (N.T, 174-76; DoBS-79) |

193, The Goldberg LLCs prepared their financial statements employing

the cash basis of accounting. (N.T, 175-76; DoBS-79)
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194, In Mr, Yother's léxper‘t opinion, 1o a reasonable dégfee of

‘ professieﬁai certainty, 1931 Funding did not meet part one of the definition of insolvency

as of July 31, 2020, and was thus solvent as ‘of Juiy 3'1, 2020, (NLT. '176-77; DoBS-1 06,
Bates 24450)

195. In Mr. Yother's expert opinion, to a reasonable degreg of
profgssional certainty, 1931 Funding met part two of the definition of insolvency as of
December 31,2018, and was thus insolvent as of that date, (N 'I‘ 180-82; DoBS-106, Bates
24452; DoBS-40, Bates 1237-41) |

196. In Mr. Yothet's expert opinion, to a reasonable _degrée of
professional certainty, he could not perform a U.S. GAAP-compliant solv;axzoy evaluation

 to determine if 1931 Fundingvmet partl two of the definition of insolvency as of July 31,
2(}19 because he did not have confidence in the fumbets provided to him specifically what
their source was and how they were arrived at“(N T, 182-88; DoBS-106, Bates 24452~ 53;
DoBS-50; DoBS-93, Bates 11529-30), | |

‘ 197.  Iu his review bof the genérai iedger and balance sheet as of July 31, -
2019, Mr, Yother noted that the assets on the balance sheet (DoBS-93, Bates 11529) were
reported as $5,256,082; whereas the assets on the general ledger (DoBS-50, Cells D347,
D357) were repotted as $4,036,622,28, (N.T. 186-88) |

198.‘ In Mr, Yother's expert opinion, to a reasonablé degree of

professionalb cer‘tainty, he could not perform a US GAAP-compliant solvency evaluation to
. determine if 1931 Funding met part two of the definition of insolvency as of November 30,

2019. (N.T. 188-92; DoBS-106, Bates 24453; DoBS-50; DoBS-40, Bates 1242-43)
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199, In Mr., Yother's expert opinion, to a reasonable degree of
professional cell'tainty,v he could not perform a US GAAP-compliént’ solvency evaluation or
~ adetermination Iof net worth to evaluate if ‘1931 Funding met part two of the definition of
insolVenoy as of December 31, 2019, (N.T, 192-96; DoBS-106, Bates 24453-54; DoBS-,
50).

200. In Mr. Yother's expert opinion, to a reasonable degree of
professional certainty, he could not perform a US GAAP-compliant solvency evalyation or
a determination of net worth to evaluate if 1931 Funding met part two of the definition of
insolvency as of July 31, 2020. (N.T. 196-201; DoBS-106, Bates 24454-55; DoBS-50 (N.T.
195-196), | | | |

201. Mr. Yother noted multiple anomalies with respect to the data
reported on the gelléral ledgers and financial statements for 1931 Funding. (N.T. 201-3;
DoBS-106, Bates 24455) |

202. In Mr. Yother's expert opinion, to a reasonab‘le degree of
professional certainty, 567 Funding did not meet part one of the definition of insolvency
as of Jﬁly 31, 2020 and was thus solvent as of July 31, 2020, (N.T. 176-77; DoBS-106,
B;cltes 24450)

203. In Mr. Yother's expert opinion, {o a reasonable degree of
professional certainty, he could not make a determination of net worth to evaluate if 567
Funding met part two of thé definition of insdivehcy as of December 31, 2019. (N.T. 216-
18; DoBS-106, Bates 24457-58; DoBS-49)

204, In Mr, Yother's expert opinion, to a reasonable degree of

professional certainty, 567 Funding met part two of the definition of insolvency as of July
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31, 2020 and was thus insolvent as of that date. (N.T. 218-20; DoBS-106, Bates 24458-59;
DoBS-49)

205. In Mr. Yother's expett opinion, to a reasonable degree ‘of
professional certainty, 442 Funding did not meet patt one‘ of the definition of insolvency
as of July 31, 2020 and was thus solvent as of July 31, 2020. (N.T. 176-77; DoBS-106,
Bates 24450) |

206, In Mt Y‘other‘sv expert opinion, to a reasonable degree of
-professioilal ceﬂainty, he could not niake a deter@ination of net worth to evaluate if 442
Funding met pa?t two of the definition of insolvency as of October 31, 2018, (N.T. 203-5;
DoBS-106, Bates 24455; DoBS-48; DoBS-33, Bates 1153-54)

207. In Mr, Yother's expeit o§i11i011, to a reasonable degree of
professional cerfainty, 442 Funding did not meet part two of the definition of insollvency
as of December 31, 2018, and was thus solvenf as of that date, (N, T, 205-9; Do BS-106, -
Bates 24456; DoBS-48)

208. In Mr, Yother's expert opinion, to a reasonable degree of .
profés'siona] certainty, he could not perform a US GAAP-compliant solvenéy evaluation to
determine if 442 Funding met patt two of the definition of insolvency as of Novc}mber 30,
2019, (N.T, 209-12; DoBS«IO6, Bates 24456; DoBS»>48; DoBS-33, Bates 1155-56)

209. In Mr. Yother‘é expert opinion, -to a reasonable degree of
professional cerfainty, he could nof pei‘fm‘ln a US GAAP-compliant solvency evaluation or
a defermination of net worth fo evaluate if 442 Funding met part two of the 'deﬁnition of

- insolvency as ‘of December 31, 2019, (DGBS-306, Bates 24456-57)
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210, In Mr, Yother's expert opinion, {0 a reasonable degree of
professional certainty, 442 Funding met patt two of the definition of insolvency as of July
31, 2020 and was thus insolvent as of that date. (N.T. 212-15; DoBS-106, Bates 24457,
DoBS-48)

211, Respondents received all filings and notices, attended the -

administrative hearing, were represented by counsel, who cross-examined the
Depattment’s witnesses and presented witnesses (including Respondent) to testify and be

cross examined by the Department, Case File; (N.T. Day 1, Day 2, pgs. 1-368)

| Stipulated Exhibits:

212. ~ The patties stlpulatc to the admlsmbzllty and authenticity of
Depattment of Bauking and Securities Exhibit (“DoBS”) — 1, DoBS Febtvary 20 2019,
- Request for Information (“RFI”) letter, and the documents submitted by the Respondents
in 1'esla§1lse to DoBS-1, it101{1di;1g:3 |

a, DoBS ~ 2, Goldberg’s Response Letter to the February 20, 2019,
RFI Letter; _ : '
b, DoBS — 3, 1 Global Participant Documents; and :
c. DoBS —4, List of Goldberg’s Compensation for the 1 Global Sales,
- 213, The admlsabmty and authenticity of DoBS — 5, DoBS September
26 2019, RFI letter, and the documents subnntted by the Respondents in response to DoBS
- 5; including:
a. DoBS — 6, Goldberg Response Letfer to September 26, 2019 RFI
Letter; ‘ : . .
b. DoBS -7, Spreadsheet labeled - General ledger-EG-personal x8312
and x3845-2018;
c. DoBS — 8, Spreadsheet - List of all individuals that were Goldata
Clients at the time that they purchased non-conventional securities;

d. DoBS -9, Client Documents for individuals that were Goldafa
Clients at the time that they purchased non-conventional securities;
. DoBS — 10, Spreadsheet listing the positions in non-conventional

securities of all individuals that were Goldata Clients at the time of the purchase of the non-
conventional securities; ‘

3 See DoBS Exhibit 108.
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R DoBS — 11, Goldberg’s marketing documents for non-conventional
securities;
’ g, . DoBS—12,2017 Tax Return; and

h DoBS — 13, 2018 Tax Return.

214, The admissibility and authenticity of DoBS — 14, DoBS November
22,2019, R¥T fetter, and the documents submitted by the Respondents in response to DoBS
— 14, including: : -
a. DoBS — 15, Goldberg Response to November 22, 2019 RFI Letter;

b, - DoBS - 16, Spreadsheet containing communication between
Goldberg and the individuals that were Goldata Clients at the time they purchased the
Global Notes; ‘ .

c. DoBS — 17, Emails — Related to 1 Global Compensation;

d. DoBS — 18, Spreadsheet containing list of Goldata Clients;

e DoBS - 19, Spreadsheet containing communications to the
~ individuals that were Goldata Clients at the time they received such communications in
1clat1011 to 1 Global, PRMH or SEA investment opportunity;

£ DoBS —22, Spreadsheet contannng Goldberg's response to A1C of
Novembel 22,2019, ‘RFI Letter; '

g DoBS — 2 Sp1eadsheet containing Goldberg's response to AiD&E .
of November 22, 2019, RFI Letter
-~ h DoBS — 24, Sploadsheet con’(ammg Goldberg's response to A2A of
November 22, 2019, RFI Letter;

i. DoBS — 25, Spreadsheet containing Goldberg's lesponse to A2C of
November 22, 2019, RFI Letter;

: i, DoBS — 26, Spreadsheet containing Goldbe:g s response to A2E of
November 22, 2019, RFI Letter;
k. DoBS -27, bp;eadsheet’ contammg Goidbel o's 1esponse to A1A of
November 22, 2019, RFI Letter;
[, DoBS — 28, Spreadsheet containing Goldberg's lesponse to AIB of
November 22, 2019, RFI Letter;
m, DoBS — 29, Spreadsheet containing Goldbel o's 1esp0nse to B1D of
November 22, 2019, RFI Letter; ”
n. DoBS - 30, 567 Funding Certificate of Oigamzaﬂon,
0. DoBS — 31, 442 Funding Certificate of Organization;
p. DoBS ~ 32, 442 Funding Brochure;
q. DoBS — 34, 442 Funding - TD Bank Statements;
r. - DoBS~35, 567 Funding Brochure;
s DoBS — 37, 567 Funding - TD Bank Statements; ~
t. DoBS — 38, 1931 Funding Certificate of Organization;
. DoBS — 39, 1931 Funding Brochure; and

v. - DoBS-—41, 1931 Funding TD Bank Statements.

215, The admissibility and authenticity of DoBS — 42, DoBS July 14,
2020, Subpoena, and the documents submitted by thie Respondents inbresponse to DoBS —

42, including:
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DoBS —43, Goldbe1g s Response Letter to July 14 2020 Subpoena;
DoBS — 44, Goldata Client Agreements;
DoBS — 45, Goldata Client Account btatements,
DoBS — 46, Spreadsheet labeled as main database piovxded in
response to July 14, 2020, Subpoena, '

e.  DoBS 47,1931 Funding Opelatmg Agreement;

f. DoBS — 48, 442 Funding General Ledgers;

g, DoBS — 49, 567 Funding General Ledgers;

h. DoBS —~ 50, 1931 Funding General Ledgers; ’

i. DoBS — 95, Spreadsheet of individuals that were Goldata Clients at
the time of the pmchase of 8 note from one of the Responclent LLCs with compensation;
and .

R0 o

i DoBS — 96, 2019 Tax Return,
216. The admissibility and authenticity of DoBS — 51, DoBS August 17,

2020, R¥T letter, and the documents submitted by the Réspondents in response to DoBS —
- 51, including;

a. DoBS — 52, Goldberg Response Letter to August 17, 2020, RFT .
Letter; ‘ _

b. DoBS - 53, 803 Funding Formation Documents;

¢, DoBS — 54, 803 Funding Brochure;

d. ~ DoBS — 55, Word Document containing communication with 803
Funding Purchasers;
e.. DoBS — 56, 803 Funding - Documentation of Payments from
Purchasers; '

f. ~ DoBS — 57, Spreadsheet Documenting the purchases of 803 Notes
by individuals that were Goldata Clients at the time of the purchase;

g. DoBS — 58, 803 Funding Account Statements for mdlwduals that
were Goldata Clients at the fime of the purchase of the 803 Notes; v

h. DoBS — 59, Spreadsheet documenting compensation received from
803 Funding; , ‘

i DoBS — 60, 803 Funding - TD Bank Statement;

Je DoBS — 61, Goldberg Responses regarding 803 Funding for items
A2A of August 17, 2020, RFI Lettel, '

k. DoBS — 62, LEGS 1 Formation Documents;

L. DoBS — 63, LEGS 1 Marketing Documents;

m,  DoBS—64, LEGS 1 Provident Trust Information;

n DoBS - 65, LEGS 1 Solicitation Emails;

0. DoBS — 66, LEGS 1 Fund Assets;

P DoBS — 67, LEGS 1 Documentation of Funds Received;

a. DoBS — 68, LEGS 1 Documentation of Payments to Purchasers;

. DoBS - 69, Spreadsheet documenting the purchase of LEGS Units
by individuals that were Goldata Clients at the time of the purchase;
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S, DoBS — 70, LEGS 1 Account Statements for individuals that were
Goldata Clients at the time of the purchase of the LEGS Units;
S DoBS — 71, Provident Trust Direction of Fee Bscrow Forms; and
U, DoBS - 72, Goldberg Responscs regarding LEGS 1 for ztems A2A
of August 17,2020, RFI Lettel

217.  The admissibility and au£hent101ty of DoBS — 74, Goldber g'
Response to Novembey 16, 2020, RFI emall

218.  The admissibility and authenticity of DoBS 98, DoBS August 5,
2022, subpoenas, and the documents submitted by the Respondents in response to DoBS — |
98, including:

DoBS — 75, 442 Funding Note Details;

DoBS — 76, 567 Funding Note Details;

DoBS — 77, 803 Funding Note Details;

DoBS — 78, 1931 Funding Note Details;

DoBS — 79, Accounting Policies Statement; and
DoBS - 80, Goldata Notes,

o e o

219. The admissibility and authenticity of documents submitted by PNC
Bank pmsuant to the August 5, 2022, subpoena including:

a. DoBS - 82, PNC Records - Account 8605394256,
b, DoBS — 83, PNC Records - Account 8604177313,
¢.  DoBS -84, PNC Records ~ Account 8406497949,
d. DoBS — 85, PNC Records - Account 8405234039,
e. DoBS — 86, PNC Records ~ Account 8405233845;
f. DoBS — 87, PNC Records - Account 8405233706;

g. DoBS — 88, PNC Records — Account 8401368312; and

I, DoBS - 89, PNC Response Certification and Inventory.

220. The admissibility and authenticity of the Private Placement
Memorandum (“PPM”) documents submitted by Respondents pursuant to RFIs and
subpoenas issued by the Bureau including:

a. DoBS — 90, 442 Funding PPMs;

b. DoBS 91, 567 Funding PPMs;

c. DoBS — 92, 803 Funding PPMs;

d. DoBS - 93, 1931 Funding PPMs; and

e DoBS — 94, LEGS 1 Investor Agreements and Full PPM,

221.  The admissibility and autheniicity of the bank records with notations
~ submitted by Respondents pursuant to RFIs and subpoenas issued by the Bureau inc{uding:
a. DoBS —99, PNC Bank Records with Goldberg’s notations; and
b. DoBS — 107, TD Bank Records with Goldberg’s notations,
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222. The admissibility and authenticity of the Merchant Cash Advance
(“MCA”) participation agreements confained in DoBS — 103, MCA participation
agreements, that Respondents submitted pursuant to RFIs and subpoenas issued by the

puea 223, The admissibility and the f@uthentioity of the certification by Jeffrey
Sodetstedt, Director of the Departiﬁent’s Cotporation Finance Office contained in DoBS —
104, |

22l4. 1931 Funding, LLC Metrics, Respondents’ Exhibit R~1.

225. . 803 Funding, LLC Metrics, Respondents® Exhibit R-2.

226, 567 Funding, LLC Metrics, Respondents’ Exhibit R-3.
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' CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The Department has jurisdiction iﬁ this matter pursuant to the Pennsylvania

Securities Act of 1972 (“Act”). (70 P.S. §§ 1-601, 1-702), |
o 2, Respondenté feceived notice of the charges and this proceeding and were afforded

an opportunityb to be 11¢a1‘d.in accordance with Section 504 of the Adminis&ativeAgency' Law, 2
Pa.C.S. § 504, | | |

3, The definitions of Affiliate,? Agent,5 Issuer®, and Securities” within the meaning of
Section 102 of the Act are applicable o this adjudication.

4, Goldberg was an ageﬁt of Global Qithin the meaning of Section 102 of the Act.

5. Global Notes ate secutities within the meaning of Séction 102 of the Act.

6. The definition of Pooled Investment Vehicle within the meaning of the

Depattment’s regulations is applicable to this adjudication,®

4 An “affiliate” of, or a person “affilinted” wlth, a specified person, meails & person that divectly, or indivectly
through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlied by, or is undea comtnon control with, the pexson
specified. (70 P.S. § (-102(b)).

3 « Agent” means any individual, other than a broker-dealer, who reprosents a broker-dealer or jssuer in effecting or
atten;aptmg to effect purchases or sales of securities. “Agent” does not include: (i) an individual who represents au
issner in effecting transactions in securities exempted by section 202,1 transactions exempted by section 2032 or
transactions in a-covered securily described in sections 18(b)(3) and (4)(D) of the Securities Act of 1933 (48 Stat.
74, 15 U.S.C. § 77y ifno compensatlon is paid or given directly or indirectly for soliciting any person in this State
in connection with any of the foregoing transactions; (ii) an individual whao represents a broker-dealer in effecting
transactions in this State, which transactions are limited to those described in section 15(f)(3) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (48 Stat. 881, 13 U.8.C. § 780(1)(3)); and (iii) an individual who has no place of business in
this State if he effects transactions in fhis State exclusively with broker-dealers. Except where tepresenting an issuer
in effecting transactions in securities registered under section 205 or 206,3 a bona fide officer, director, or pattner or
employe of a broker-dealer or issuer, or an individual ocoupying a similar status or performing similar functions, is
an agent only if he otherwise comes wﬂhm this definition and receives compensation directly or indirectly lelated to
purchases or sales of securities. (70 P.S. § 1-102(c)).
6 “Issuer” means any person who issues oy proposes to 1ssue any security, and any promoter who acts for an issuer
pnoposeci to be formed, (70 P.S. § 1-102(D)).

7 “Seeurity” means any note, (70 2.8, § 1- 102(t))
& Pooled investment vehicle —

() A limited partnership, limited liability company or an entity with a smn]m legal status and performing similar
functions,

(ii) The term does not include an investment company that has filed a 1'eglstrat10n statement under the Investment
Company Act of 1940, (10 Pa. Code § 102,021). .
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7. As managet of Respondent 1931, Respondent Goldberg controlled Respondent

1931 Funding.
| 8, As manager of Respondent 567, Rcspondént Goldberg controlled Respondent 567

Funding. | | |

9. Asmanager of Respondent 442, Respondent Goldberg controlled Respondent 442
Funding, |

10.  As manager of Réspo’ndent 803 Respondent Goldberg controlled Respondent 803
PFunding. -

11,  As 1'nanagcr of Respondent LEGS, Respondent Gé_idberg céntroiled Respondenf
LEGS Funding. |

12, The LEGS Units desctibed above are "securities" within the meaning of }Section
- 102(1) of the 1972 Act, 70 P.S. § 1-102(1). |

13, The Department has met its burden of provibng Respondent Goldberg violated
Section 201 of thé Act, | |
| 14, The Department has met its burden of pfoving Respondent Goldberg violated
Section 301(a) of the Act, |

15. The' Department has met its burden of proving Respohdent Go-ldberg violated
~ Section 401(b) of the Act, | |
16.  Proof of scienter is not required when alleging a violation of Section 401(b) of the
- 1972 Act. Mimi Irwesfors, LLC v. Paul K. Tza’(mo, David Crocker, Dennis C’r‘oﬁfn,‘ and Neil
Matheson, 297 A,3d 1272 (2023). | |

17.  The Department has mét its burden of proving Respondent Goldberg violated

Section 401(c) of the Act.
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18, The Deparuﬁent has met its bui‘den of proving Respondent Goldata did not comply
with the reqﬁirements of Regulation 404.014;' 10 Pa. Code § 404.014;

19.  The Department has met its burden of proving Respondent Goldata violated Section
404 of the Actand 10 Pa, Code § 404,014(a)(1).

20.  TheDepartment has met its bmﬂen of proving Re§ponden’c Goldata violated Section
404 of the ‘Act and 10 Pa, Code § 404.014(a)(5).

| 21, The Department hés met its burden of proving Respondent Goldata violated Section

305(a)(v) of the Act and 10 P‘a. Code § 305.011(a) and (). |

22.  The Department has met its burden of proving Responcient Goldberg and .
Respondent ’Goldatav violated Section 305(a)(v) .of the 1972 Acf and 10 Pa. Code §
303.042(a)(3)GINA)-(B). | |

23.  The Ijepa_rtment has met its burden of proving Respondent Goldberg and
Respondent Goldata violated Sectioﬁ 305(a)(v) of the 1972 Act and 10 Pa, Codc? § 304.022(a)(1).
| " 24, The Departmeht has met its burden of préving Respondent Goldberg énd
Respondent Goldata violated vSection 305(a)(ix) of the 1972 Act and 10 Pa, Code § 305.019(a).

25.  The Deparfment bas met its burden of prdvillg Respondent Goldberg and
Respondent Goldata violated Section 305(a)(ix) of the 1972 Act and 10 Pa, Code §
305.019(c)(3)(x1). | |

26.  The Department has met ifs burden of proving Respondent Go_ldbcrg and
Respondent Goldata violated Section 305(a)(ix) of the 1972 Act:ahd 10 Pa. Code §

‘305.019(0)(3)(xv).
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DISCUSSION

Burden of Proof and Credibility

This administrative action concerns a two hundre& and six count»Order to ‘Show Cause.
“The degree of proof required to establish a cﬁse before an administrative tribunal in an
administrative action ot;tlxis nature is a preponderance of the evidence, Lansberry v. Pennsylvania
- Public Urilitj/ Commission, 578 A.2d 600, 602 (Pa.-Cmwlth. 1990). A preponderance of the
evidence is generally understood to mean that iﬁe evidence demonstrating a fact isl more likely to
be true than not to be true, ot if the burden wete viewed as a balance scale,. the evidence in support
of the Commonwealth’s case must weigh slightly more than the‘ opposing evidence, 'Se-Ling
'Hasfery, Inc, v. Margulies, 70 A.2d 854, 856 (Pa. 1949). The Cémmouwealth, th‘erefore,‘ has the
burden of proving the charges again};t Respondent With evidence that is substantial and 1egally
credible, not by mere “suspicion” or by only a “scintilia’f of evidence. Lansberry, 578 A.2d at 602.
In an administrative pfooeedi11g, the fact finder determines questions of the credibility of
witnesses and of the weight of the evidence. See, e.g., Nepa v. Depar!menf of Public Welfare, 551
A.2d 354 (Pa. Cmwlth; 1988) (determination of credibility of witnesses in health care providers'
appeal is the province of the fact finder). | | |

Analysis of Violations

There are two hundred and six counts in the Order to Show Cause of which one hundred
and thirty- four counts are brought against Respondent Goldberg, fifteen counts ate brought
against RespondentG‘oldata and the remaining fifty-seven counts are collectively brought against

Respondent Goldberg and Respondent Goldata.
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SECTION 201: REGISTRATION REQUIREMENT

Respondent Goldberg is charged with fifty-nine counts under Section 201 of the Act
which provides for:

It is unlawful for any person to offer or sell any security in this State unless the
security is registered under this act, the security or transaction is exempted under
section 202 or 203 hereof or the security is a federally covered seoutrity.

70 P.S. §1-201.
The following definitions from the Act are pertinent to a charge under Section 201;

* (b) An “affiliate” of, or a person “affiliated” with, a specified person, means a
person that dnectly, ot indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is
controlled by, or is under common control with, the person speclﬁed

&k W

(c) “Agent” means any individual, other than a broker-dealer, who represents a
broker-dealer or issuer in effecting or attempting to effect purchases or sales of
securities.

LR

(1) “Issuer” means any person who issues or proposes to issue any security, .
Members of unincorporated associations, which members have limited liability,

~and any {rustee or member of a trust, committee or other legal entity shall not be
deemed to be an “issuer” for the purposes of this act,

Wk ok
(@)() “Sale” or “sell” includes every sale, disposition or exchange, and every centract of
- sale of, or contract to sell, a security or interest in a security for value or any issuance of
securities pursuant to any merger, consolidation, sale of assets or other corporate

reorganization, involving the exchange of secuutws, in whole or in part, for the securities
of any othet pexson, '

@)(i1) “Offer” or “offer to sell” includes every direct or indirect attempt ot offer to sell or
dispose of, or solicitation of an offer to purchase, a sccuuty or inferest in a security for
value,

% A %
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() “Security” means any note; stock; ireasury stock; bond; debenture; evidence of
indebtedness; share of beneficial interest in a business trust; certificate of interest
or participation in any profit-sharing agreement; collateral trust certificate;
preorganization certificate or subscription; transferable share; investment contract;
voting trust certificate; certificate of deposit for a security; limited partnership
interest; fractional undivided interest in oil, gas or other mineral xights; put, call,
straddle, option or privilege on a security, certificate of deposit of a security or
group or index of securities, including any interest in the securities or based upon
the value of the secutities, or any put, call, straddle, option ot privilege entered into
on a national securities exchange relating to foreign currency; membership interest
in a limited liability company of any class or series, including any fractional ot

- other interest in stuch interest, unless excluded by clause (v); or, in general, any
interest or instrument commonly known as a “security”; or any certificate of interest
or patticipation in, temporary or interim certificate for, receipt for, guarantee of, or
warrant or right to subscribe to or purchase, any of the foregoing. All of the
foregoing are securities whether or not evidenced by written document.

OB

70P.S, § 1-102,
Global Notes

In the OTSC, the Depattment alleged that Respondent Goldberg offered and sold
unregistered seourities in the form of Glbbal Notes and that the Global Notes were not exempt
from registration, To meet its burden, the Department offered into evidence joint stipulated facts
and exhibits that show that Global was engaged in the business of providing'ﬁmding known as a
Merchant Cash Advance Tx‘ansaction (“MCAT”) as an alternate form' of ﬁﬂaucing to traditional
banking and banking institutions. Global offered for sale Memoranda of Indebtedness (“Global |
Notes™) to individuals. From in or about March 2017 through November 2017, Réspondent
Goldberg participated in 'effect'mg the offer and sale of at least 14 Global Notes to at {east 14
Pennsylvania residents (“PA Residents”) for an aggregate amount of at least $646,000. For |
Respondent Goldberg’s participation'in the sale of Global Notes, Respondent Goldberg received
$9,293 in compensation from American Alternative Investments, LLC (;‘AAI”), which acted as

the matketing agent for Global. The Depattment also presented a cettification from Jeffrey
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Sodesstedt, the Director of Coxporation Finance for the Depattment, which certified that the
I)epart:ﬁent does not have any records (that the depatrtment maintains for sccurities, registrations,
and exemptions) in its possession regarding registrations or exemptions fér Global Notes.
Finally, the Department presented the testimony of Nathan Houtz; a éecurities compliance
examiner fo;' the Department. Mr, Houtz testified that during his investigation he was unable to
find any evidence that Respondent Goldberg was ever registered as an agent of Global. |
Respondent Goldberg argues that he did not believe the Global Notes were propetly
classified as secutities because the upper management of Global and Andrew Dale Ledbetter,
Esquire, Globai’s'legal counsel represented to Respoﬁdent and others that the Global Notes were
" not securities and Respondent relied on that 1'epresenta_tion. Unfortunétely, Respondent
Goldberg’s argument is unavailing. |
| The Global Notes are a written promise from Global to repay the Global Investor their
original purchase price of the Global Note. As a result, the Global Notes are clearly secutities as
defined by the Act, Ad(llitionally, the facts of this case support a finding tilat Respondent | |
Goldberg acted as an agent of Global wlien he participated on behalf of the issuer of the Global
Notes in effecting or attempting to affect the oﬂcr and éale‘ of at leasﬁ 14 Global Notes to at least
14 Pennsylvania residents (“PA Residents”) for én aggregate amount of at least $646,000, Other
facts that suppot a finding that Respondent Goldberg was an agent of Global ate Respondent
Goldberg’s admissions that he contacted potential Global investors, fielded and answered
questions about the Global Notes from potential investofs, and assistecl potential Global Note
investors in filling out and signing subscription paperwork as a marketing agent and he would
forward th'cit documentation to American Alternative Investments, LLC ("AATI") to complete the

purchase of the Global Notes. Respondent Goldberg’s detrimental reliance on faulty legal advice
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from Global and its legal counsel does not absolve Respondent Goldberg, Additionally, no
evidence presented in this cage establishes 1h§t the Global Notes were exempted from
registration under Section 202 or 203 of the Act or that the Global Notes were federally covered
secutities.” As a result, the Department has met its burden of i)rovihg by a preponderance of‘the
evidence that Respoﬁdent Goldberg violated Sec@ion 201 of the Act by selling or offering to sell
the unregistered and nonexempted Global Notes to at least 14 Pennsylvania residents.

- Goldberg LIC Notes

The Departménf also alleged in the OTSC that Respondents violated Section 201 of ﬁle
Act, as it relates to the sale of the 1931 Notes, 567 Notes, 442 Notes, and the 803 Notes
(“Goldberg LLC Notes”). In the OTSC, the Department alleged thlat‘Respondents offered and
sold unregistered securities in the form of the Goldberg LLC Notes and that the Goldberg LLC
Notes were not exempt from registration under the Act, Unlike with the Global Notes,
| Respondents do not dispute that the Goldberg LLC Notes are secutities under the Act.!® Instead,
Respondents argue that the 567 Nofes, the 442 Notes, and the 803 Notes were exempt from

regisiration putsuant to Regulation D, under Rule 506(b) ' of the 1933 Act, and that the 1931

“Pursirant to 70 P.S, § 1-612(a), in an adminisirative proceeding under the Act, a person claiiming status as a-
federally covered secwrity or adviser or an exemption, exception or exclusion from a definition has the burden of
proving the availability of the status, exemplion, exception, or exclusion.

19 Additionally, Respondents do not dispute that the Goklberg LI.Cs ave the Issuers of the Goldberg LLC Notes
pursuant to the Act or that Respondent Goldberg was an Affiliate of each of the Goldberg LLCs pursuant to the Act.
11 §230.506 Exemplions for limited offers and sales without regard to doltar amount of offering.

{b) Conditions to be met in offerings subject to limitation on mansner of offering

(1) General conditions. To qualify for an exeniption under this section, offers and sales must sattsfy all the teuns and
conditions of §§ 230,501 and 230.502,

(2) Specific conditions

(i) Limitation on number of purchasers, There are no more than, or the issuer 1ewsombiy believes that there are no
more than, 35 purchasers of securities from the Issuer in offerings undet this section in any 90-calendar-day period.:
Note 1 to paragraph (b)(2)(i): See § 230.501(e) for the calculation of the number of purchasers and § 230. 502('1) for
what may or may not constifute an offering under paragraph (b) of this section,

(i1} Nature of purchasers, Each puichaser who Is not an aceredited investor either alone or with his purchaser
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Notes were exempt from regiétration pursuant to Regulation D, under Rule 506(c)'? of the 1933

Act,

representative(s) has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that he is capable of
evaluating the merits and risks of the prospective investinent, or the issuer reasonably believes immediately piior to
making any sale that such purchaser comes within this description.

* % kK

(17 C.ER, § 230,506(b)).

12 (¢) Conditions to be met in offerings not subject to limitation on manner of offering—

(1) General conditions. To qualify for exemptlon under this section, sales must satisfy all the terms and conditions of
- §8230.501 and 230.502(a) and (d).

(2) Specific conditions— :

(i) Nature of purchasers, All purchasers of securities sold in any offering under paragraph (c) of this section are

accredited investors,

(i) Verification of accredited investor status, The issuer shall take reasonable steps to verify that purchasers of

securities sold in any offering under paragraph (c) of this section are accredited investors. The Issuer shali be

deemed fo take reasonable steps to verify if the issuer uses, af its option, one of the following non-exclusive and

non-mandatory methods of verifying that a natural person who purchases securities in such offering is an accredited

Investor; provided, however, that the issuer does not have knowledge that such person is not an aceredited investor:

(A) In regard to whether the purchaser is an accredited investor on the basis of income, reviewing any Internal

Revenue Service foim that reports the purchaser's incowe for the two most recent years (including, but not limited

to, Form W-2, Forin 1099, Schedule K-I to Form 1065, and Forim 1040) and obtaining a written representation

from the purchaser that he or she has a reasonable expectqtion of reaching the income level necessary to qualiiy as

an accredited investor during the cuirent year;

(B) In regard fo whether the purchaser is an accredited Investor o the basis of net worth, reviewing one or more of

the following types of documentation dated within the prior three months and obtaining a written representation

from the purchaser that ail Jiabilities necessary to make a determination of net worth have been disclosed:

(1) With respect to assets: Bank statements, brokerage statements and ofher statements of securities holdings,

certificates of deposit, tax assessments, and appraisal reports issued by independent third parties; and

(2) With respect to liabilities: A consumer report from at least one of the natlonwide consumer reporting agencies;

(C) Obtaining a wrilten confirmation from ene of the following persons ot entities that such person or entity has

taken reasonable steps to verify thaf the purchaser is an aceredited investor within the prior three months and has

determined that stuch purchaser is an aceredited investor;

(1) A registered broker-dealer;

(2) An investment adviser registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission;

(3) A licensed attorney who is in good standing under the laws of the jurisdictions in which he or she is admitted

to practice law; or

(4) A certified public accountant who is duly registered and in good standing uader the laws of the place of his

or her residence or principal office;

(D) In regard to any person who purchased securities in an issuer's Rule 506(b) offering as an accredited investor

prior to September 23, 2013 and continues to hold such secutities, for the same issuer's Rule 506(c) offering,

obtaining a certification by such person at the time of sale that he or she gualifies as an accredited investor; ot

(E) In regard fo any person that the issuer previously took reasonable steps to verify as an aceredited investor in

accordance with this paragraph (¢)(2)(i1), so long as the issuer is not aware of inforination to the contrary, obtdlmng

a written representation from such person at the time of sale that he or she qualifies as an acoredited investor. A

written representation under this method of verification will satisfy the issuer's obligation to verify the person's

accredited investor status for a perlod of five years from the date the person was previously verified as an acoredited

Investot, Instructions to paragraph (¢)(2)(ii):

1. The issuer is not required to use any of these methods in verifying the accredited investor status of natural persons

wha are purchasers, These methods are examples of the fypes of non-exclusive and non-mandatory methods that
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In Respondents’ post—lleérixlg brief, Reé:pon(lents point out that the parties stipulated that -
all LLCs made timely Regulation D filings and state notice filings to comply with being exempf
as “federally covei'éd securities. Respondvents argue that they “fagtidibuﬂj édhered to Rule
506(b) for 442, 567 and 803 offerings and Rule 506(c) for the 1931 offering.” (Respondent’s
post-hearing brief at pg. 5). The Department in its post~hearing' brief argues, notwithstanding
Respondents timely Regulation D filings and state notice filings to comply with being exempt as -
“federally covered_securitiés, Respondents cannot avail themselves of the exemption from
registration pursuant to Regulation D, under Rule 5-06(‘b) of the 1933 Act for the 442 Notes, the
567 Notes, and the 803 Notes becéuse Respondents did not comply with all of the conditions
enunciated in 17 CE.R, § 230,506, Lik_ewise, the Department argues that Respondenté cannbt
avail themselvesb of _the exemption from registration pursuant to Regulation D, under Rule 506(c)
of the 1933 Act for the 1931 Notes because Respondchts failed to comply wilh the verification of
accredited investor status for the purchasers of the 1931 Notes. (Department’s reply brief, pg. 3).

According to 17 C.ER, § 230.506(b)(1):

(b) Conditions to be met in offerings subject to limitation on manner of offering

(1) General conditions, To qualify for an exemption under this section, offers and
sales must satisfy all the terms and conditions of §§ 230,501 and 230,502,

o

 satisfy the verification requirement in § 230.506(¢)(2)(ii).
2. In the case of a person who qualifies as an accredited investor based on joint income with that person's spouse,
the issuer would be deemed to satisfy the vetification requirement in § 230.506(c)(2)(i)(A) by reviewing copies of
Internal Revenue Service forms that report income for the two most recent years in regard to, and obtaining written
representations from, both the person and the spouse,
3, In the case of a petson who qualifies as an accredited investor based on joint net worth with that person's spouse,
the issuer would be deemed to satisfy the verification requirement in § 230.506(c)(2)(ii)(B) by reviewing such
documentation in regard to, and obtaining written representations from, both the person and the spouse,

¥ % %

(17 CF.R. § 230.506(). |
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According fo 17 C.F.R. § 230.502:

(c) Limitation on manner of offering, Except as provided in § 230.504(b)(1) or §
230.506(c), neither the issuer nor any person acting on its behalf shall offer or sell
the securities by any form of general solicitation or general advertising, including,
but not limited to, the following: '

(1) Any advertisement, article, notice, or other communication published in any
newspaper, imagazine, or simitar media or broadcast over television or radio...

Aok ok
The Department argues tﬁe 567 Notes, the 442 Notes, and the 803 Notes were not exempt
from registration because Respondents engaged in a 111ai'keti11g scheme that involved general
solicitation of the 567 Notes, 442 Notes, and the 803 Notes, which targeted both aqcreditcd and
11011~éccredited investors. (Department’s post»heafing briéf, pgs. 8-9). Respondents, for their part,
argue that they refrained from general solicitation for the 442 Noteé, the 567 Notes, and the 803
Notes because the matketing videos on Goldberg's publicly 'accéssible YouTube channel
promoteé tﬁe 1931 Notes; which targeted accredited investors only. (See Resp. Br. at 9).
As estabiished by the ﬁndings of facts, Respondent Goldberg niaintaitied a publicly
. accessible LinkedIn webpage that listed Goldberg as the Manager of 1931 Funding, 442
Funding, and 567 Funding. Respondent Goldberg's LinkedIn webpage was active diu‘ing the time
_of the offer and sale of the Goldberg LLC Notes. Also, Respondent Goldberg's LinkedIn
webpage stated that 1931 Funding, 442 Funding, 567 Funding, and 803 Funding "offer attractive
returns of 6% to 20% annually to investors by patticipating in cash advances to small
businesses," |
Official notice is taken of the fact that solicitations that condition the market for an

offering of securities are viewed as a general solicitation to market the securities,” Because

B3See 11.8. Securities Exchange Commission at hitps:/fwww . scc.gov/education/capitalraising/building-
blocks/general-solicitation, '
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Goldberg engagéd in general solicitation of the 567 Notes, ﬂie 442 Notes; and the 803 Notes
through: (1) Respondent Goidi)erg‘s LinkedIn webpage, (2) Respondent Goldberg's YouTube
ohannei, and (3) veferrals fiom Qt#est Education, Respondents may not successfully rely upon the
exemption from registration under Rule 506(1)) of Regulation D, Accordiugly, the offer and sale
of the 567 Notes, the 442 Notes, and the 803’ Notes.violated Section 201 of the Act,
The Department al'ghgs the 1931 Notes were not exempt from registration under Rule

506(c) of Regulation D of thé 1933 Act, Specifically, the Department alleges that Respondents

“failed to dexﬁonstrate that reasénable stepsAwere taken to verify cach pﬁrchasef’s accredited
investor status. Respondents ai’gue that they verified the accreditation Sta’cu_s for the 1931"
Funding investors by asking questions of thém in the private piécement nmmoraﬁdums.
Reépondent Goldberg also testified that all 1931 Flll'ldillg investors providéd proof of their
accreditation status. For example, they either provided proof that they qualified for $1 million of
net worth besides their primary residence by stipulating to that fact and providing a cover of &
bank statement, Or, if they qualified by income, which was $200,00'0‘00 personaﬁy or
$300,000.00 joint, Respondent Goldberg claimed he asked for two yeats’ worth of tax returns
plus a signoff that they expect to have that sort of income in the current year, And some of them
were able to qualify by getting their attorney or accountant to sign off if they did not want to
disclose their net worth.

Respondent was asked where he documented the check that he claims he did, and

Respondent Goldberg claimed that he has it in his files. Unfortunately, R_espoﬁd‘ent Goldberg’s

" self-serving statements withbut moré are not credible, Respondept Goldberg was not able to

-show proof thdrough documentation. As a result, fhe only éredible evidence that Respondent

Goldberg checked the accredited investor status of the 1931 Fund purchasers was to take their
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wortd for it and nothing more. This can hardly be considered taking réasonable steps to verify
the accredited invéstor status of each 1931 Tnvestor, As a result, th§ Respondents have failed to
demonstrate that the 1931 LLC Notes weré, exempt from registratioﬁ under Rule 506(c), The
Depa;‘ttﬁent has met its burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that Respondents
offered fof sale the 1931 Notes iL{ the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania while tliey were
unregistered and did not fall under an exemption,

SECTION 301: REGISTRATION REQUIREMENT

Respondent Goldberg is charged with fourteen counts under Section 301 of the Act

~which provides for:

Unless exempted under section 302 hereof: (a) It is unlawful for any person to
transact business in this State as a broker-dealer or agent unless he is registered
under this act.

ke

| 70 P.S, § 1-301.
Respondents assert that Respondent Goldberg did not violate § 301(a) because Goldberg :
~was an agent of AAL and not a direct agent Qf Global. (See Resp, Br. pg. 54). This argument is
without merit, In the instant case, Respoﬁdcnt Goldberg was a subagent of Global because -"AA‘I
contracted marketing agents" like Rcsponden't‘(}oidberg "to assist Global" in marketing and selling
the Global Notes. (Resp. B1 at 54j (emphasis added). (See Restat.ement 2d of Agency § 5 "AA‘
subagent is a person appointed by an agent empowered to do so, tq perform functions undertaken
" by the agent for tlie pl'illcipai, but for whose conduct the agent agrees with the principal to be
pt‘iﬁaafily reéponsible.“). (see also AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp. v. Primrose Pharmacy,
LLC, No. 16-6106, 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 229178, at *18 n.9 (E.D. Pa. Nov. 30, 2021)).
("Pennsylvania courts generally follow the Second Restatement of Agency.") (citing Basile v. H

& R Block, Inc.,, 761 A.2d 1115, 1120 (Pa. 2000)).
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Asa subagent of Global, Goldberg was a "dibréct representative" of Global:

When a general agent in the due prosecution of the business of his principal,
employs another in a branch of the business, the acts of the sub-agent have the same
effect as if done by the general agent, In such case the sub -agent becomes the agent
and direct representative of the principal.

Swan v. Watertown Fire Ins. Co., 96 Pa, 37, 41-42 (1880) (emphasis added). (SeéRestatement
2d of Ageﬁoy § 142 comment b); ("So far és the contractuél relations bet?veen the principal and
third i)eréons ate concerned, a subservient or other subagent has the same power as an agent."),
Tiuis, because Goldberg represented Global in marketing and selling the Giobal Notes, Goldberg
vs.fas an "agent" of Global within the meaﬁing of § 102(¢) of the Act. Accordingly, Respondent
Goldberg violated § 301(a) by transacting business in Pemisylvaniaz without registering as an
ageﬁt of Global.

SECTION 401(b): SALES AND PURCHASES

Respondent Goldberg is charged with sixty-one counts under Section 401(b) of the 1972

Act which states;

It is unlawful for any person, in connection with the offer, sale or purchase of any
security in this State, directly or indirectly:

(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact
necessary in otder to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under
which they are made, not misleading.

Kk

70 P.S. §1-401(b).

Respondents argue that the Department has failed to prove scienter to meet its
bm‘den of proof under sections 401(b) and (c) of the Act, Respondent’s scienter argument
is without merit. Judicial Notice is taken of the fact that on July 19, 2023, the Pémlsylvénia

Supreme Court issued its decision in Mimi Investors, LLC v. Paul K. Tufano, David
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Crocker, Dennis Croﬁin, and Neil ﬁcfafheson, 297 A.3d 1272 (Pa. 2023). In Mimi, the

- Pennsylvania Supreme Court noted: -

A violation of that subsection [70 P.S. § 1-401(b)] ocours when there is a
misrepresentation of a material fact in connection with a securities transaction: The
misrepresentation may be overt, such as when a person makes an untrue statement
about a material fact. The offense may also occur by act of omission. Omitting a
material fact in a staiement connected to a securities transaction constitutes a
violation of Section 1-401(b) when the omission renders the statement misleading,
Critically, there are no terms in Section 1-401(b) related to scienter, and there are
no general provisions of the PSA that otherwise supply a scienter element.

Id. at 1285, The Pennsylvania Supreme Court unltimately héid in Minﬁ that proof of scienter
is not reciuil"ed when aliegihg a violation of Section 1-401 (b) of the Act, Id. at 1287, This
holding constitutes a material change of law, as it is the first time that the Pennsylvania
Supr;ame'Comt has addressed the issue of proof of sciezllter undet Section 1-401(b) of the

Act,

1t should be noted that the United States Supreme Court provided the following test

to determine if a fact is “material”;

An omitted fact is material if there is a substantial likelihood that a
reasonable shareholder would consider if important in deciding how ¢o vote.
... It does not require proof of a substantial likelihood that disclosute of the omitted
fact would have caused the reasonable investor to change his vote. What the
standard does contemplate is a showing of a substantial likelihood that, vnder all
the citcumstances, the omitted fact would have assumed actual significance in the
deliberations of the reasonable shareholder; Put another way, there must be a
substantial likelihood that the disclosure of the omitted fact would have been
viewed by the reasonable investor as having significantly altered the “total
mix” of information made-available,

TSC Industries, Inc., et al, v. Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 449 (1976) (emphasis added).
Global Notes |

In the Global brochure Respoh_dent Goldberg provicléd to the Global investors, under the

heading “Our Company” it states the following: “Our highly motivated management team has over
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80 years of combined skills in businessl operations, consumer and commercial lending,
internet/telemarketing and sales. (Exhitbit PoBS 11). The Department afgués that the Global Note
brochure and offering materials did bnot disclose the financial condition of Global‘ The Globél Note
broohﬁre does not disclose the serious financial risks to investors who purchase the Global Notes.
Finally, the Department posits that the Global Noté brochure does not disclos‘e‘vor provide any
information regarding Globa‘i’s corporate officets or leadership, According to the Department, th¢
financial condition of Global, its con‘ﬁotate‘ofﬁcers and Jeadership, and the financial risk of the
 Global Notes ate matetial facts; and omitting to state these facts significantly alters tlie total mix
of information that was made évailable to puréﬁasers of the Global Notes, Because Respondent
Goldberg omi_ttcd» to proviclie these material facts,y "wlllich were notfably absent from thé Global |
brochure and offering materials, Respondent Goldberg omitted to state material facté nece,séary tp .
make the Global brochure and offering materials not misleading to investors. As such, Respondent
Goldberg's conduct in connection with the offer and sale‘of the Global Noteé violated Section

401(b) of the Act.

Respondents argue that the Department has failed to meet is burden of proof under
Section. 401(b) by proving all five elements ;)f fraud, which are (1) misstatements or
omissions of material facts; (2) with scienter; (3) in corlllect.i§11 with a purchase or éale of
securities; (4) upon which the Global Note investors relied upon such material
misstatement or omissions; and (5) the Global Note investors suffered démages as a result.

‘Respondents’ argument has no merit, As previously discussed, sclenter is not i‘equired to
be proved under Section 401(b)‘ Additionally, a review of the plain language of the text of

Section 401(b) of the Act does not require proof of reliance on the omissions of material

facts or proof of damages on the part of the Global Note investors, "[A]lthough a court
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must 'listen attentively to what a statute says [3] Jo]ue must also listen attentively to what
it does not say.' * Kmonl-Sullivan v, State Farm Mut, Am() Ins. C’o.,'788 A.2d 955, 962
(Pa. 2001) (citation omitted).

In construing a statute, conrts must ascerfain and give effect to k;gislative intention
as expressed in language of statute, and cannot, under their powers of construction, supply
omissions in a statute, especially where it appears' that matter may ila{!e been intentionally .

~ omitted, See Kusza v. Maximonis, 70 A.2d 329 (Pa. 1950); ;s;ee also Girg?s w Bd Of
| - Physical Therapy, 859 A2d 852, 854 (Pa. Cmawlth. 2004) (A couxt "may not insert a word
the legislature failed to supply into a statute."). Respondents are asking the undetsigned
hearing examiner to read words into Section 401(b) that do not currently exist. The
uncleysi’ghed hearing examiner deolines to do so. Also, Respondents in their post—hearing
~brief do not dispute that the facts‘ omitted by Respondent Goldberg would have been
material to the reasonable Global Note investor and necessaty to make other statements
| made about the Global Notes not misleading. The facts omitted by Respondeht Goldberg
are deemed to be facts a reasonable Global Note investor would have deemed important
whep deciding whether to purchase the securitiés being offered for sale. As a result, the
Department has met its burden of provihg that Respondent Goldberg, in connection with
the offer, sale or purchase of the Global securities in this State, directly or indireétly omitted
to state ,ma’it.erial facts necessary to make the' statements made, in the light of the -
circumstances under which they are made, not misleading, _

Goldberg LLC Notes

The Department next argues that Respondents violated Section 401(b) as it relates

to the Goldberg LL.C Notes because Respondents failed to disclose adequate information
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about the MCA Funding Firms in which the Golberg LI.Cs were investing, (DoBS initial
brief, pgs. 56-57). According to the I)epﬁtmeﬁt, a reasonable investor would want to know
additional details about the identity of the MCA Funding Firms to ensure that the Goldberg
LLCs were not investing in bankrupt MCA funding fitms, |
Conversely, Respondents argue that they need ﬁot disclose the identities and

operating histories of the MCA Fonding Firms becauée they would be ‘trade secrets akin to
Coke not required to disclose its coca cola formula to KO (Coke Stock’s ticker symbol)
investors. Respondents opine as the Note holders wére Sophisticated and/or Accredited
Investors, they had the oppostunity to ask this and any other question of Respondent‘
Goldberg, the manager of each LLC, and if they did not, they must have deemed such
question not material. Had this been included in the PPM, competitors could have
contactéd these funders and offered better terms than the LLCs’ then cutrent terms.
Accordiﬁg to Respondents, this could have adversely affected the LLCs’ ability to generate
the profitability necessary to fulfill principal and interest ,paynient obligations due Note
holders. (Respondent’s brief at pgs. 19-20). |

© Respondents’ argument is without metit. Upém a review of the text éf‘ Section
401(b), there is nothing iﬁ the text that would give di301'et101i to Respondents to determine
what information to disclose to the Goldberg LL.C Note purchasers. The test is whether
reésonable Goldberg LLC Note purchaset would consider the information important before
deciding to purchase the notes, Respondents do ﬁot dispute that they did not provide the
information about the identities and operating histoties of the MCA. Funding Firms to
Goldberg LLC Note purchasers before they purchased the notes. The operating histories of

the MCA Funding Firms are deemed to be facts a reasonable Goldberg LLC Note purchaser
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would want to know before purchasing the notes, The Departmenf has met its burden of
proving that Respondents violated Sect.ion 401(b) as it relates to the Goldberg LLC Notes
because Respoﬁdénts failed to disclose adequate information about the MCA Fundiﬁg
Firms in ~v‘vhich the Golberg LLCs were investing.

During Réspoﬂdent Goldberg’s testimony, he indicated that based on his role in the
various LLCS he was due compensation in the form of management fees, According to
Respondent Goldberg, he did not always withdraw the full compensation that he was
entitled from each Goldberg LLC, per the terms of the Goldberg's LLC Notes‘ PPM.

| However, Réspondent Goldberg conceded that if he withdrew the total compensation to

which he was entitled from the Goidberg LLCs, then the Goldberg LLCs would have

operated at a loss. The Department al'glleé that Respondents failed to disclose to the

Goldberg LLC Note holders the dire consequences of Respoﬁdent Goldberg collecting his

- full management fee pursuant fo the terms of the Goldberg LLC Notes, According to the
Depz;u"tment, this fact is material because a i'easonabie investot would vs)ant to know if the

| Goldberg LLC Investors’ funds wouid be seriouély endangered in the event the Respondent
Goldberg collected his total management fee, (DoBS initial brief, pg. 56).

‘ Respondents argue that the PPMs diséiosed that Respondent Goldberg was the one-
hundred percent' owner of each LLC and the manager of each LLC. Therefore, the Goldberg
LLC Note holders were on notice that Respondent Goldberg could take out managementv
fees or refrain from taking them out by treating such as retained earnings. (Respondents’
brief, pg. 20). Aﬂer reviewing the heafing testimony and the PPMs, Respondents did not
disclosg to the Goldberg LLC Note Holders that the funds \;vould be insolvent if

Respondent Goldberg collected all the management fees due him from each of the LLCs.
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This infoignatioh is deemed a fact a reasonable investor would want to know before
Jinvesting in the various Goldberg LLC Notes, Reépondent Goldberg was under no legal
obligation to inject additional capifal into the Goldberg LLCsbto sustain them financially.
The Depattment has met its burden of proving that Respbndents violated Section 401(b) as
it relates to Respondents’ failure to disclose to the Goldberg LLC Note holders‘ the dire
coﬁsequences of Respondent Goldberg collecting lﬁs full management fee pursuantto the
terms of the Goldberg LLC Notes,

The Department also alleges that from on or ab(}ut November 2016 until December
2016, Respondehts offered LEGS Nofes for sale to investors in Pcmlsylvahia, Accoi‘clihg
to the PPM, the -proceeds from tlie sale of the LEGS Notes would be used to purchase
interest in investment funds that would acquire life settlements, Respondents sold LEGS
notes to a least one Respondent Goldata client and at least one LEGS investor was aged 60
ot more. The LEGS Notes are deemed to be securities within the meaniné; of thé Act,
Respondents filed a Nofice of Bxempt Offering of Securities pursuant to Regulation D,
Rule 506(b). The Deparhnent ai‘gues that Respondents failed to disclose to the LEGS Note
investbrs the followilzg: 1. The financial condition of Respondent LEGS; 2. The financial
risk of investing in the LEGS Units; 3. The Life Settlements that would be acquired with
LEGS Investor funds, and 4. Respondent LE'GS' s operating history. The information
identified by the Depattiment, which Respondents omitted disclosing to Respondent LEGS
investors is deemed facts a reasonable LEGS 1 investor would want to know before -
inVcsting in the note. The Dep‘artment has met its burden of proving thatl Respondénts
violated Section 401(b) as it relates to Respondents LEGS omitting facts and information

a reasonable investor would want to know before investing in that note,
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SECTION 401(c): SALES AND PURCHASES

Respondent Goldberg is charged with fourteen counts under Seotion 401(c) of the 1972
Act which provides:.

It is unlawful for any person, in connection with the offer, sale or purchase of any
security in this State, directly or indirectly;

(¢) To engage in any act, practice or course of business which operates or would
operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person. :

70 P.8. §1-401(c).

ThevDepal‘tment pdints out that 1931 Funding's PPM included a balance éheet as of July
31, 2019, that contained a line item for assets <‘)f $5,256,082. However, 1931 Funding's internal
general ledger as of July 31, 2019, stated 1931 Funding's as‘sets were $4,036,622.28. According
to the Depériment, tiw 1931 Investors were provided a misleading financial sfatcmént that
represented that its assets were $1,219,459.'72 more than the total assets on 1931 Funding' s
intemall financial statements, Resbondents argue that Section 401(¢c) requil'és scientet, and the
Department has failed to pr‘ove Requndents acted with scienter. A reading of the plain text of
Secﬁdn 401(c) does not indicate that scienter is required. As previously indicated, the
Pennsylvania Supreme Court in Mimi determined that Section 401 (B)'did not ;‘equire proof of
scienter, In making its determinati(‘m, the Court noted that the language in Section 401(a)
requires proof of scienter. A reviéw of Sections 401(&), 401(b), and 401(c), shows that the
language in 401(c) matches the langﬁage of 401(b) more than it matches the language in
401(a).!* Therefore, based on the plain text of 401 (c) and the ruling in Mimi, it is determined that

401(c) does not require the Department to prove scienter,

. ¥ § 1.401, Sales and purchases ‘ -
Itis unlawful for any person, in connection with the offer, sale or purchase of any secwrity in this State, directly or

Page §7 of 73




In the instant case, Respondent Goldberg failed to provi_de‘any testimony or evidence to |
explain the diS(.zrepancy, as a result, the evidence does suppoft a finding that 1931 Fundiﬁg Was |
inﬂatiug‘its assets on the balance sheet with false en(ries, In addition to these false entries,
Respondent Goldberg testified {lla{ the financial documents presented to Goldberg LLC Investors
as a balance sheet wete pot really balance sheets. Goldberg testified that, despite this error, he
never provided Golcibé_rg LLC Investors with a notice explaining that the balance sheets that he
provided. them in the PPMs were not actual balance sheets. A reasonable invgstor would want to
review accurate ﬁnanbial information and propeﬂy identified ﬁn_ancial statements when deciding
on whether to purchase the Goldbetg LLC Notes, The Departiment has met its burden of proving
that Respondents, in connection with the offer, sale or purchase of any security in this State,
directly or indirectly engaged in an act, practice or course of business which operates or would‘
operate as a fraud or deceit upoﬁ any person in violation of Section 401(c) of the Act,

SECTION 404 of the Act, 70 P.S. § 1-404, and 10 Pa, Code § 404.014(a)(1):
CUSTODY REQUIREMENTS FOR INVESTMENT ADVISORS

~ Respondent Goldata is charged with five counts under Section 404 of the Act, 70 P.S. §
1-404, and 10 Pa. Code § 404.014(a)(1) of the Regulations which provides for:

(a) Safekeeping required, It is unlawful and considered to be a fraudulent,
deceptive, or manipulative act, practice or course of business, within the meaning
of section 404 of the act (70 P.S. § 1-404), for an investment adviser, registered or
required to be registered under section 301 of the act (70 P.S, § 1-301), to have
custody of client funds or securities unless:

indirectly: i

(a) To employ any device, scheme or artifice to defiaud;

(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make
the statements made, in the light of the clrcumstances under which {hey are made, not misleading; or

(¢) To engage in any act, practice or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceif upon
any person,

Rk ok
76 P.S, § 1-401,
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(1) The investment adviser notifies the Department promptly in wE mug on Form ADV
that the investment adviser has or may have custody,

. PeT . .
Respondent Goldata, as a registered investiment advisor and Respondent Goldberg, as an

investment advisor representative for Respondent Goldata, sold several active Goldata
investment advisor clients Goldberg LLC Notes anch LEGS Notes.!* To invest in the Goldberg
LLCs, the Goldata Clients transferred funds directly to the Goldberg LLCs. The funds Goldata |
Clients transfetred to the Goldberg LLCS were their personal funds and would meet the
definition of client funds ot secutities. Additionally, the funds Goldata Clients invested intb the
Goldberg LLCs were not maintained by a third-pafty custodian. Goldberg testified that he had
complete control of the Goldberg I.JLCS, including total control and possession of the Goldberg
LLCs' bank accounts, Goldberg had complete control over and authority to ’dbtain possession of
the fun‘(jis invested by the Goldata Clients in the Goldberg LLCs and LEGS Notes, therefore,
evety ﬁme a Goldata Client transferred funds and invested in the Goidﬁerg LLCs, Goldata and
Gbldberg wete in custody of client funds or securities,

Respondents arghc that they did not have custody of client funds and as a result they were
not in violati;)n of the COde. Speéifically, Respondents argue that the LLCs were not managed
by Goldata, abregistered investment advisor, nor Respondent Goldberg as an investment advisor
representative. According to Respondents, each LLC from its inception was set up as Respondent
Goldberg’s staﬁd-alone business separate in every possible manner fiom Respondent Goldata
and its registered investment ad\,;isor business. Respondquts p_oint to the testimony of Robert

Harmelin, who testified that he was a 1931 Note Holder and a client of Goldata and he knew that

13 Respondents have stipulated that Goldata Clients invested in the Goldberg LLCs, Specifically, there were: 7
Goldata Clients invested in 1931 Funding; 2 Goldata Clients juvested in 803 Funding; 5 Goldata Clients invested iu
442 Funding; 2 Goidata Clients invcsted in 567 Funding; and 1 Goldata Client invested in LEGS,

Page 89 of 73




1931 and Goldata were “separate” at the time he purchased his LL.C Notes, Finally, Respondents
atgue that Goldata did notbllmve custody of customer funds as the LLCs ate not and were not
“pooled investment vehicles.” |

At the outset, it should be noted that Respondents’ argument that the LLCs ate not and
were not “pooled investment vehicles” is efroneous and without metit, The Code defines a
" pooléd investment vehicle" in relevant part as"[ a] limited partnership, limited' liabi[i’c& compaﬁy
or an entity with a similar legal statas and performing sinﬁlar functions." 10 Pa. Code § 102.021.
Thus, the definition is broad and there is no 1'équirenmnt that investors receive an equity interest
~ in the underlying asseté to qualify as va pooled investment vehicle. Nor is there any limit‘ation on
the types of asset classes or investments that fall within the definition. According to Respondent
Goldberg, the pill;pose of the various LLCs was to pool money together and participét’e wifh ‘tlie
funders who underwrote the cash advances, (N.T, 357), If the investments through the MCA -
funders did well, everyone would be able to get paid back and if the investments did pootly,
there was a possibility that everyone could suffer a bit of a loss. (/d).

The above regulation makes clear that it is unlawful and considered to be a fraudulent,
deceptive, or manipulative act, practice, or coutse of busineés, within the mealﬁng of section 404
of the act (70 P.S. § 1-404), for an investment z{dviser, registered or requited to be registered
under section '301 of the act (70 P.S. § 1-301), to have custody of client funds or securities unless
the investment adviser notifies the Departmenf promptly in writing on Form ADV that the
investment adviser has or may have custody. The plain reading of the cited regulation makes
clear that once a registered investment advisor takes on an invéstment client, all funds or

seourities received from that investment client are to be documented and the Department

notified. Respondents suggest that even though they had a fiduciary duty to {heir registered
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investment advisor clients, they could sidestep the Act and regulations designed to profeot the
investment adyisor ciieﬁt silﬁp}y by creating another business in the for'm of an LL.C and drafting
disclaimer language statiﬁg the businesses are separate, Respondenﬁ dq not cite anﬁz case law to
support this interpretation of the Act and its regulation o this point, The purpose of the Act and
its regulation is to protect ,investme'nt advisor clients from being taken advantage of by -
unscrupulous invesiment advisors, Tf Respondents were allowed do what they suggest, the Acts
purpose would be severely undérmined.

It is undisputed that Respondent Goldata was not in compliance with the requirements of
v the cited regulation, Specifically, Goidbexg testified or admitted that Respondent Goldata did
not: file an audited balance sheet at the end of its fiscal year; notify the Depattment that it has
custody of client funds on its Forrﬁ ADV'S; have its clients' funds of which it had custody
veriﬁéd by a certiﬁed public accountan’t;‘or maintain a net worth over $35,000 from July 1, 2017,
to June 30, 2018, As a result, the Department has met is burden of proving by a preponderance of
the evidence that Réspondent Goldata was in violation oft Section 404 of the 1972 Act, 70 PS
§1-404 and Regulation 404,014(a)(1), 10 Pa. Code §404.014(a)(), |

SECTION 404 of the Act, 70 .S, § 1-404 and 10 Pa. Code § 404.014(a)(5):
' CUSTODY REQUIREMENTS FOR INVESTMENT ADVISORS

Respondent Goldata is charge& with five counts under Section 1-404 of thé Act,70P.S. §
1-404, and 10 Pa, Code § 404,014(a)(5) of the Regulations which provides for:

(a) Safekeeping 1equned 1t is unlawful and considered to be a fraudulent, deceptive or
manipulative act, practice or course of business, within the meaning of section 404 of the act
(70 P.S. § 1-404), for an investment adviser, registered or required to be registered under
section 301 of the act (70 P.S. § 1-301), to have custody of client funds or securities unless: -

16 (N,T. 135), It should be noted that Mr, Houtz also testified that in bis review of the Department’s records, he did
not find any docuinentation showing that Respondent Goldata notified the Department on Form ADV that it had or
may have custody of client funds or securities. (N.T. 79),
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(5) The investment adviser meets the foliowmg conditions: (i) The client funds and
securities of which the investment adviser has custody are verified by actual
examination at least once during each calendar year, by an independent certified
public accountant, under a written agreement between the investment adviser and
the independent certified public accountant, at a time that is chosen by the
independent certified public accountant without previous notice or announcement
to the investment adviser and that is irregular from year to year, (ii) The written
agreement provides for the first examination to occur within 6 months of becoming
subject to this patagraph, except that, if the investment adviser maintains client
funds or secwrities under this section as a qualified custodian, the agreement must .
provide for the first examination to ocour no later than 6 months after obtaining the
internal control report. (iii) The written agreement must require the independent
certified public accountant to: (A) File a cettificate on Form ADV-E with the
Department within 120 days of the time chosen by the independent cextified public
accountant in this paragraph, stating that it has examined the funds and securities
and describing the nature and extent of the examination. (B) Notify the Department
within 1 business day of the finding, by means of a facsimile transmission or e-
-mail, followed by first class mail, directed to-the attention of the Department on
- finding any matesial discrepancies during the course of the examination. (C) File
Form ADV-E within 4 business days of the resignation or dismissal from, or other
termination of, the engagement or removing itself or being removed from
consideration for bemg reappointed, accompanied by a stdtement that includes:

(D) The date of 1651gna110n, dismissal, removal or other termination, and
the name, address and contact information of the independent certified
public accountant, :

(II) An explanation of any ploblems relating to examination scope or
procedure that contributed to 1e51gnat10n, dismissal, removal or other
termination.

Aok

It is undisputed that Rcspoﬁdcnt Goldata was not in compliance with the requirements of

the cited regulation. Specifically, Respondent Goldberg admitted that, as the individual in charge
of Respondent Goldata, he did not have an independent CPA conduct audits of the funds in the

various entities. (N.T. 135-136). Respondent also admitted that Respondent Goldata did not have

a parly review the fees, expenses, and withdrawals of the various entities, (N.T. 136), Finally,

Respondent Goldberg admitted that Respondent Goldata never filed an audited batance sheet

with the Department. (Jd.). Asa resuit, the Departmént has met is burden of proving Respondent

Goldata failed to comply with Regulation 404.014(a)(5), 10 Pa, Code §404.014(a)(5), which
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“acts, and cond-uct constitute a fraudﬁ lent, deceptive or manipulative act, practice, or course of
buéiness in willful violation of Section 404 of the 1972 Act, 70 P.S. § 1-404 and Regulation
404,014(a)(5), 10 Pa. Code §4O4.014‘1(a)(5).

SECTION 305(a)(v) of the Act, 70 P.S. § 1-305(a)(v), and 10 Pa, Code § 305,011 (1) and (c):

SUPERVISION OF AGENTS, INVESTMENT ADVISER REPRESENTATIVES AND
EMPLOYEES

Respondent Goldata is charged with five counts under Section 305 (a)(v) of thé Act, 70
~ P.S. §1-305(a)(v), and 10 Pa, Code § 305.011 (a) and (o) of the Regulations which provides for:

(a) Every broket-dealer and investment adviser registered under section 301 of the act (70 P.S.
§ 1.301) shall exercise diligent supervision over the securities activities and securities related
activities of its agents, investment adviser representatives and employees by:

(1) Establishing and maintaining written procedures and a system for applym;, and

enforcing those written procedures which are reasonably designed to:

(i) Achieve compliance with the act and this title.

(i) Detect and prevent any violations of statutes, rules, regulations or orders described in

any of the following:

(A) Section 305(a)(v) and (ix) of the act (70 P.S. § 1-305(a)(v) and (ix)).

(B) The Conduct Rules of FINRA,

(C) An applicable fair practice or ethical standard promulgated by the Securities and

Exchange Commission or by a National securities exchange.

(c) As evidence of compliance with the supervisory obligations imposed by this section, a

broker-dealer or investment adviser shall:

. (1) Implement written procedures, a copy of which shall be kept in each location at which
the broket-dealer or investment adviser conducts business,
(2) Lstablish, maintain and enforce those written procedures designed to achieve
compliance with the act and this title and to detect and prevent violations described in
subsection (a).

, ok
Mr, Houtz testified that Respondent Goldberg was asked to provide the Department with

all versions of Respondent Goldata’s written supesvisory procedures in effect with respect to the
offet, sale, or recommendation of alternative or non-conventional securities, such as pooled

investment vehicles, to Goldata clients. (N.T. 80-81). According to Mr. Houtz, Respondent
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Goldberg’s response was that Respondent Goldata did not have any written supervisory
procedures in place, (N.T. pg. 82). As a result, the Department has met its burden of prdving that
Respondent Goldata failed to comply with its supetvisory obligétions as required by Section 305
(a)(v) of the Act, 70 P.S.>§ 1-305¢a)(v), and 10 Pa, Code.§ 305.011 (a) and (c).

SECTION 305 (a)(v) of the ACT, and 10 Pa, Code § 303.042(2)(3)(i)(A)-(B):
INVESTMENT ADVISOR CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

Respondent Goldberg and Respondent Goldata are charged with one count under Section
305(a)(v) of the Act, 70 P.S. § 1-305(a)(v), and 10 Pa. Code § 303.042 (@B)EDA)-(B) of the

Regulations which provides for:
a. Net worth requirements

(3) An investment adviser registered under section 301 of the act that has its principal

“place of business in this Commonwealth and has custody of client funds or securities

shall maintain a mininm net worth of $35,000 unless the investment adviser has
custody solely as the result of one of the following:

' (if) Setves as a general partner, manager of a limited liability company or a person
occupying a similar status or performing a similar function which gives the
investment adviser or its supetvised person legal ownership or access to cllent funds
or secutities and the following conditions are met:

(A) The pooled investment vehicle is subject to audit at least annually and
distributes its audited financial statements which have been prepared by an
independent cettified public accountant in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles to all limited pariners, members or-beneficial owners within
120 days of the end of its fiscal year.
(B) The investment adviser:
(1) Hires an independent par ty to review all fees, expenses and capital withdrawals
from the accounts included in the pooled investment vehicle before forwatding
them to the qualified custodian with the independent party's approval for payment.
(1) Sends written invoices or receipts to the independent party describing: (-a-) The
amount of the fees, including any formulae used to calculate the fees, the time
period covered by the fees and the amount of assets under managemeni on which
the fees were based. (-b-) The expenses or capital withdrawals for the independent
patty to verify that payment of the fees, expenses or capital withdrawals is in
accordance with the documents governing the operation of the pooied investment
vehicle and any statutory 1equuements applicable thereto,

* (I1I) Notifies the Department in writing on Form ADV that the investment adviser
intends to employ the use of the audit safeguards in subclauses (I} and (II).
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M, Houtz testified that baéed on his review of the records Respondents submitted to the
Department, R’espéndent Goldata failed to maintain a net worth of $35,QOO for the petiod from .
Tuly 1, 2017, to June 30, 2018, (N.T. 79). Additionally, Mr. Ioutz testified that Respondent
Goldéta failed'to submit any documentation showing it had subjected pooled investment vehicles
(Goldberg LLCs) to an annual audit and then subsequently distribiﬁed the results of those audits
fo the investors, (/d.). As a fcsult, the Depattment has met {s burden of proving that Respondent
Goldberg and Respondent Goldata violated Section 305 (a)(v) of the Act, 70 P.S. § 1-3 05(a)(v),
and 10 Pa, Code § 303.042 (a)(3)(ii)(A)-(B) of the Regulations,

SECTION 305 (a)(v) of the ACT, 70 P.S. § 1-305(a)(v), and 10 Pa. Code § 304,022 (a)(1):
INVESTMENT ADVISOR REQUIRED FINANCIAL REPORTS

- Respondent Goldberg and Respondent Goldata are charged with five counts under
Section 305(a)(v) of the Act, 70 P.8. § 1-305(a)(v), and 10 Pa, Code § 304.022 (a-)(l) of the
Regulations which provides for:

(a) An investment adviser registered under section 301 of the act (70 2.8, § 1-301) that
has custody of client funds or secutities or requires prepayment of advisory fees 6 months
or mote in advance and in excess of $1,200 per client shall file with the Department an -

 audited balance sheat as of the end of its fiscal year with the following conditions:

(1) The balance sheet shall be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles and contain an unqualified opinion of an independent certified public
accountant.

-
My, Houtz testified that a review of the records shows that Respondent Goldata did not

file an audited balance sheet with the bepartﬁxent which contained an unqualified opinion of an

independent certified public accountant at the end of a fiscal yéat. (N.T. 80). As a result, the

Department has met its burden of proving that Respondent Goldberg and Respondent Goldata
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fatled to comply with Section 305(a)(v) of the Aect, 70 P.S. § 1—305(a)(v),'and 10 Pa, Code §
304.022 (a)(1) of the Regulations. |

SECTION 305(a)(ix) and 10 Pa. Code § 305.019(a):
DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES

Respondent Goldberg and Respondent Goldata are charged with seventeen counts under -
Section 305 (a)(ix) and 10 Pa. Code § 305.019 (a) of the Regulations which provides for:

(a) Bvery person registered under section 301 of the act (70 P.S. § 1-301) is a fiduciary
and shall:

(1) Act primarily for the benefit of its customers.

(2) Observe high standards of commercial honor and just and equltable principals of trade
in the conduct of their business.

The evidence presented at the hearing establishes that Respondents engaged in dishonest
or unethical practices in the securities business by having custody ot possession of client’s
securities or funds without complying with the Department’s regulations regarding custody of

- funds in violation of 10 Pa. Code § 404.014,

SECTION 305(a)(ix) and 10 Pa. Code § 305.019 (e)(3)(xi):
DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES

Respondent Goldberg and Respondent Goldata are charged with seventeen counts under
“Section 305(a)(ix) and 10 Pa, Code § 305.019(c)(3)(xi) of the Regulations Whioh_ provides for:

(¢) The Department, for purposes of section 305(&)(Xi) of the act, will consider actions
such as those in paragraphs (1)-+(3) to constitute dishonest or unethical practices in the
securities business ot taking unfair advantage of a customer

(3) Investment advisers 'md mvestment advxsm 1epwsentat1ves Includes the following
actlons

(x1) Failing to disclose to a client in writing, before advice is given, a material
conflict of interest relating to the investment adviser, the investment adviser
representative or an employee of the investment adviser which could reasonably be
expected to impair the giving of unbiased and objective advice including:

(A) A compensation arrangement connected with advisory services to a client

which is in addition to compensation from the client for the services,

(B) An advisory fee charged to & client for giving advice when a commission for

executing securities transactions under the advice will be received by the
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~ investment adviser, the invesiment adviser representative or an employee or
affiliated person of the investment adviser.

Goldata failed to disclose in writing to the Goldata Clients who purchased Goldberg LLC
- Notes that Goldberg had a material conflict of interest due to his receipt of compensation from |
the Goldberg LLCs for iﬁs work in offering for sale the Goldberg LLC Notes, in violation of
Regulation 305.019(c)(3){xi). Tﬁe evidence presented at the hearing establishes that é.s '
Respondent Goldberg received céﬁnpensation for his management of Respondent 1931,
Respondent 567, Respondent 442, Respondent 803, and Respondent LEGS ‘Respondent Gold'xta
failed to act as a fiduciary and acted pumauly for its own benefit by recommending the purchase
of the 1931 Notes, the 567 Notes, the 442 Notes, the 803 Notes and the LEGS Units. The
Department has met is burden of proof on this issue. |

SECTION 305 (a)(ix) and 10 Pa. Code § 305.019 (c)(3)(xv):
DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES

Respondent Goldberg and Respondent Goldata are charged with seventeen counts under
Section 305(a)(ix) and 10 Pa, Code § 305.019 (c)(3)(xv) of the Regulations which provides for:

(¢) The Department, for purposes of section 305(a)(xi) of the act, will consider actions
such as those in paragraphs (1)--(3) to constitute dishonest or unethical pr actices in the
secutities business or taking unfair advantage of a customer

(3) Investment adv1sexs and investment adviser repr esentauves Includes the following
actions:

(xv) Taking an action, directly or indirectly, with respect to those securities or funds in
which a client has a beneficial interest, when the investment adviser has custody or
possession of the securities ot funds when the adviser's action is subject {o, and does not
comply with, the requirements of § 404,014 (relating to custody requirements for
investment advisers). :

By failing to comply with the various custody requirements, including

informing the Department on Form ADV that Respondent Goldberg had custody, and by not

conducting independent audits and reviews of accounts in which Respondent Goldberg had
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custody bf client fuhds, Respondents Goldberg and Goldata violated Regulation
305.019(c)(3)(xv), 10 Pa. Code§ 305.01 9(c)(3)(xv) and has engaged in dishonest and unéthical

praciices,

SANCTIONS

The testimony and evidence establish that Réspondent Goldberg's conduct reveals a |
pattern of dishonesty and deception. The Department cén issue a maximum assessment of
$100,000 for each act or oini‘ssion that constitutes a willful violation of the 1972 Act and its
regulationé.” If applied, the maximulm assessment for Goldata's and Goldberg's collective two-
hundred six violations would be $14,’7C0,000, Section 602.1 of the 1972 Act pertinently states:

Assessments

(¢) ... the department may issue an order.. which imposes an adniinistrative
assessment in the amounts provided in paragraph (1) ... againsi any other person if
the department determines that the person wilfully violated section.., 401....

(1) The department, in issuing an order undet this subsection, may
impose the administrative assessments set forth below. Bach act or
omission that provides a basis for issuying an order under this
subsection shall constitute a separate violation. :

¥ % %
(i) In issuing an order against a person for willful
violation of section 401 ... (¢)..., the department may
impose a maximum administrative assessment of up
to one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) for each
act or omission that constitutes a violation of any of
those sections, ... :

17 Tn issuing an order against any broker-dealer, agent, investiment adviser or investinent adviser representative
registered under section 30 I or an affiliate of any broker-dealer or investment adviser, the departiment may impose a
maximum administrative assessment of up to one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) for each act or omission that
constitutes a violation of the act or rule or order issued under this actor that constitutes a dishonest or unethical
practice in the securities business, taking unfaiv advantage of a customer, or failure to reasonably supervise its agents
or employes, If any of the victims of the person's violative conduct were individuals aged 60 or more, the
Deparlment also may impose a special adiministrative assessment in addition to the foregoing amounts of up to fifty
thousand dollars (§ 50,000}

Fck

70 P.8. § 1-602.1(c)(D()
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* % &
(2) For purposes of determining the amount of administrative assessment to be
imposed in an order ;ssued under this subsecuon the department shall consider:

(i) The cncumstances, natune, frequency,
seriousness, magnitude, persistence and wﬁlfulness
of the conduct constltutmg the violation,

(i) The scope of the violation, including the number
of persons in and out of this Commonwealth affected
by the conduct constituting the violation,

(iif) The amount of restitution or compensation that
the violator has made and the number of persons in
this Commonwealth to whom the restitution or
compensation has been made,

: ® % %
(v) Any other factor that the department finds
appropriate in the public interest or for the protection
of investors and consistent with the purposes fairly
intended by the policy and provisions of this act.’
(3) An administrative assessment imposed by an order issued under
this subsection is not mutually exclusive of any other remedy
available under this act.
70 P.8. § 1-602.1(c)."8

CIRCUMSTANCES, NATURE, I‘RDQUDNCY SERIOUSNESS,
MAGNITUDE, PERSISTENCE AND WILLFULNESS

From 2005 wntil 2022, Respondent Goldberg has been re’gistered as an investment
advisor representative of Respondén’s Goldata pursuant to Section 301. Despite Respondent
Goic{berg’s seventeen years of knowledge and awareness of the 1972 Act, he repeatedly violated
the 1972 Act and its regulations through the offervand‘sale of the Global Notes, the Goldberg

LLC Notes, and the LEGS Units. Goldberg chose {o commit these violations, ignoring his years

18 Remedies to which the Bureau is entitled are limited by Section 602.1, which does not provide for an
administrative assessment for a violation of Section 201 al all and does not permit an gssessment uncler Section
“401(b) where one is being imposed under Section 401(c). See 70 P.S. § 1-602. 1(c)(L)(iii).
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of experience and knowledge of the 1972 Act and its regulations. Goldberg sustained his
violative conduct over the course of i;mny years and placed the Goldata ciiexits at risk of
financial harm by offering and selling the Gdldberg LLC Notes.. |
| CONCLUSION
Based on the foregoing, having found that the Bureau met its‘b‘urden, it is recommended

that its assessment z'eqliest be granted, and a proposed order follows.
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BEFORE THE SECRETARY OF BANKING AND SECURITIES -
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
DEPARTMENT OX BANKING AND SECURITIES

l)épm'tment of Banking and Sccurities, -

Bureau of Secuvities Compliance and $
Examinations :
Petitioner » o
Docket No, SEC - 21-0039
VS,

Goldata Computer Services, Inc.
d/b/a Goldata Financial .

Elliot Mitchell Goldberg

1931 Funding, LLC

*B 98 4 8% me we 4% ws +e we - s

567 Funding, LLC
442 Funding, LLC
804 F'unding, LL.C
LEGS 1, LLC :
' Respondents
'PROPOSED ORDER

AND NOW, this 22 day of November 2023, upon consideration of the foregoing
Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Discussion, it is ORDERED that Goldata Computer
Services, Inc, d/ b/a Goldata Einancial, Eﬂiot Mitchell Goldberg, 1931 Funding, LL.C, 567 Funding,
LLC, 442 Funding, LLC, LEGS 1, LLC, shall pay an ADMINISTRATIVE ASSESSMENT of
$7,000 for the'sixty-ohe vio_iation_s of Section 1-401(b), 70 P.S. § 1-401(b), and $7,000 for the five
violatiogs of Section 1-404, 70 P.S. § 1-404 v‘ia 10 Pa. Code‘ § 404.014(51)(1), and $7,000 for the
five violations of Section 1—404, 70 P.S. § 1-404 via 10 Pa. Code § 404,014(a)(5), and $7,000 for
the one violétion of Section 1303, 70 P.S. § 1-303 via 10 Pa, Code § 303.042(5)(3)(ii)(A—B), and
$7,000 for th;a five violations of Section 1;304, 70P.S. § 1-304 via 10 Pa. Code § 304.022(a)(1),
and $7,000 for the five Violatiohs of Section 1-305, 70 P.S. § 1-305 via 10 Pa. Code § 305.011(a),

‘(o), and $7,000 for the seventeen violations of Section 1-305, 70 P.S, § 1-305 via 10 Pa, Code §
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305.019(a), a-nd $7,000 for the seventeen violations of Section 1-305, 70 P.S. § 1-305 via 10 Pa.
Code § 305.019(c)(3)(xi), and $7,000 for the seﬁenteen violations of Section 1-3085, 70P.8. § 1.
305 via 16 Pa, Code §' 305.019(c)(3)(xv), for a total assessment in the amount of $931,000,
pursuant to Section 602.1(c) of the 1972 Act, 70 P.S. § 10602(c). Respondents shall be jointly and
severally liable for payment of the assessment. Respondents shall make said payment within 30
days, or within such other period agreed to by the Department, by certified check, attorney’s check,
or U.S. Postal Setvice money order, made payabie'to “Commonwealth of Peiﬂ}éylvaﬁiel,” and shall
deliver the payment to the counsel fox the Depax‘;tment set forth below uniess otherwise directed
by the Department.

| 1T IS FURTHER ORDERED, Section 305 of the 1972 Act, 70 P.S, § 1-305, that the
- registration of Respondent Goldata Computer Services, Inc, dba Goldata Financial and Resinond‘ent
| Elliot Mitchell Goldberg be censured.

* This Proposed Order shall be effective as a Final Order in accordance with 1 Pa. Code §
35.226(a)(3) in forty days unlessra Brief on Exceptions is filed within thirty days in accordance
with 1 Pa. Code § 35,211 or the Secretary ini-tiatesla review within forty days in accordance with,
1 Pa. Code § 35.226(a)(2).>

BY ORDER:

 Redacted

Monty Bat'so'n
Hearing Officer

For the Commonwedalth: David Murren, Bsquire
‘ Seamus D, Dubbs, Esquire
Assistant Counsels
Pennsylvania Department of Banking and Securities
17 North 27 Street, Suite 1300
Harrisburg, PA 17101
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For Respondents:

Docket Clerk:

Dafte of mailing:

William W, Uchimoto, Esquite
Attorney for Respondents
William W, Uchimoto Law
613 Cascades Court

~ Berwyn, PA 19312

Bileen Smith
eileesmithi@pa.gov

11/30/2023
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FILED

COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 2023 NOV 29 PM 12:30

' : PA DEPARTMENT OF
DEPARTMENT OF BANKING AND SECURITILS BANKING AND SECURITIES

COMMONWEALTH OFf PENNSYLVANIA
DEPARTMENT OF BANKING AND
SECURITIES, BUREAU OF SECURITIES
COMPLIANCE AND EXAMINATIONS
PETITIONER, : ' :
v. : . Docket No.: 210039 (SEC-OSC)

GOLDATA COMPUTER SERVICES, INC, D/B/A
GOLDATA FINANCIAL,

ELLIOTT MITCHELL GOLDBERG,

1931 FuNDING, LLC,

567 FunNDING, LL.C,

442 FUNDING, LLC,

803 FUNDING, LL.C,

LEGS 1,LLC

RESPONDENTS

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

- T hereby certify that I served a true and correct copy of the attached Lettef and Proposed Report
in accordance with the requirements of 1 Pa. Code § 33.31 (relating to service by agency), in the
manner indicated below: '

By United States First Class Mail 11/30/23 and Electronic Mail 11/29/23:

William W, Uchimoto, Esq. . Merritt A. Cole, Esq.

William W. Uchimoto Law =~ Earp Cohn P.C. »
613 Cascades Court 123 S Broad Street, Suite 1030
Berwyn, PA 19312 Philadelphia, PA 19109
wwuchimoto@gmail.com mcole@earpcohn.com
(Attorney for Respondents) (Attorney for Respondents)

Michael E. Markovitz, Esq.
4145 Apalogen Road
Philadelphia, PA 19129
michael@memesg.com
(Attorney for Respondents)




By Hand Delivery Mail 11/30/23 and Electronic Mail 11/29/23:

David Murren, Esquire

Seamus D, Dubbs, Esquire

PA Department of Banking and Securities
17 North Second Street, Suite 1300

. Harrisburg, PA 17101 ‘
(Attorneys for Petitioner) -

By:

‘Redacted

Linnea Freeberg, Docket Clerk .
PA Department of Banking and Securities
17 North Second Street, Suite 1300
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 17101

/





